INSTITUTE OF MATHEMATICS, POLISH ACADEMY OF SCIENCES

# $\begin{array}{c} {\rm D} \ {\rm I} \ {\rm S} \ {\rm S} \ {\rm E} \ {\rm R} \ {\rm T} \ {\rm A} \ {\rm T} \ {\rm I} \ {\rm O} \ {\rm N} \ {\rm E} \ {\rm S} \\ {\rm M} \ {\rm A} \ {\rm T} \ {\rm H} \ {\rm E} \ {\rm M} \ {\rm A} \ {\rm T} \ {\rm I} \ {\rm C} \ {\rm A} \ {\rm E} \end{array}$

**Online First version** 

EDITORIAL BOARD

MARCIN BOWNIK, JAROSŁAW BUCZYŃSKI, JANUSZ GRABOWSKI, PIOTR GWIAZDA deputy editor, STANISŁAW JANECZKO, PIOTR KOSZMIDER editor, LUDOMIR NEWELSKI, ADAM SKALSKI, WIESŁAW ŻELAZKO

## ALISA GOVZMANN, DAMJAN PIŠTALO and NORBERT PONCIN

A new approach to model categorical homotopy fiber sequences Alisa Govzmann Faculty of Science, Technology, and Medicine University of Luxembourg 6, Avenue de la Fonte L-4364 Esch-sur-Alzette, Luxembourg E-mail: alisa.govzmann@uni.lu

Damjan Pištalo Faculty of Science, Technology, and Medicine University of Luxembourg 6, Avenue de la Fonte L-4364 Esch-sur-Alzette, Luxembourg E-mail: damjan.pistalo@uni.lu

Norbert Poncin Faculty of Science, Technology, and Medicine University of Luxembourg 6, Avenue de la Fonte L-4364 Esch-sur-Alzette, Luxembourg E-mail: norbert.poncin@uni.lu

Published by the Institute of Mathematics, Polish Academy of Sciences Typeset using  $T_{\rm E} X$  at the Institute

Abstracted/Indexed in: Mathematical Reviews, Zentralblatt MATH, Science Citation Index Expanded, Journal Citation Reports/Science Edition, Google Science, Scopus, EBSCO Discovery Service.

#### Available online at http://journals.impan.pl

© Copyright by Instytut Matematyczny PAN, Warszawa 2022

doi: 10.4064/dm858-5-2022

 $\mathrm{ISSN}\ 0012\text{-}3862$ 

# Contents

1.	Introduction	5		
2.	Models of homotopy pullbacks	8		
3.	Long homotopy fiber sequences	13		
	3.1. Definitions	13		
	3.2. Homotopy theory of long homotopy fiber sequences	15		
4.	Puppe's long homotopy fiber sequence	26		
5.	Comparison with Quillen's fibration sequences	39		
6.	Application to chain complexes	46		
	6.1. Long homotopy fiber sequence and long exact homology sequence	46		
	6.2. Chain complexes as pointed model category	47		
	6.3. Monoidal model categories	51		
	6.4. Chain complexes as monoidal model category	54		
7.	Follow-up questions	55		
Ref	References			

### Abstract

We propose a simplified definition of Quillen's fibration sequences in a pointed model category that fully captures the theory, although it is completely independent of the concept of action. This advantage arises from the understanding that the homotopy theory of the model category's arrow category contains all homotopical information about its long fibration sequences.

2020 Mathematics Subject Classification: Primary 18E35; Secondary 18N40, 14A30.

Key words and phrases: model category, homotopy theory, derived functor, homotopy pullback, homotopy fiber square, fibration sequence, Puppe sequence, long exact sequence in homotopy. Received 10 December 2021; revised 28 April 2022. Published online \*.

#### 1. Introduction

Homotopy (co)fiber sequences, also called (co)fibration sequences, have been studied in the category of topological spaces, the category of chain complexes of modules, in general model categories and in homotopical categories.

Homotopy fiber sequences can be traced back to the beginnings of homological algebra in the 1940s. Indeed, the long exact sequences in homology associated with short exact sequences of chain complexes and chain maps [24] turned out to be shadows of homotopy fiber sequences. The first systematic investigation of homotopy cofiber sequences appeared in 1958 in Puppe's work [31], which is written in the context of *pointed topological spaces*. The author constructed the mapping cone Mc(f) of a continuous base point preserving map  $f : X \to Y$  and the connecting homomorphism  $\delta_f : Mc(f) \to \Sigma X$  valued in the suspension of X, which led to a long sequence

$$X \xrightarrow{f} Y \xrightarrow{p_f} \mathrm{Mc}(f) \xrightarrow{\delta_f} \Sigma X \xrightarrow{\Sigma(f)} \Sigma Y \xrightarrow{\Sigma(p_f)} \Sigma(\mathrm{Mc}(f)) \xrightarrow{\Sigma(\delta_f)} \cdots$$

where every short sequence extracted from it is a homotopy cofiber sequence. On the side of homological algebra, Verdier [37] defined *triangulated categories* in 1963 as a generalization of derived categories of Abelian categories. He considered the mapping cone Mc(f) of a chain map  $f: X \to Y$  and axiomatized properties of sequences that are isomorphic in the derived category to

$$X \xrightarrow{f} Y \xrightarrow{p_f} \mathrm{Mc}(f) \xrightarrow{\delta_f} X[1],$$

where [1] is the suspension operator. In 1961, Puppe and Dold [10] independently of Verdier found similar axioms when studying *stable homotopy theory*. The difference between [31] and [37, 10] is that in the latter the suspension functor is an equivalence— a condition that is generally referred to as the stability condition. Nonetheless, all three sources deal with *homotopy cofiber sequences*, each in its setting.

In 1967, Quillen [32] introduced model categories by abstracting the notions and properties of cofibrations, fibrations and weak homotopy equivalences of topological spaces. Over time, the theory got recognized as the proper framework for abstract homotopy theory. Quillen defined (*co)fibration sequences* in the homotopy category of any *pointed model category* (M, 0). For this he first defined a loop space functor  $\Omega^Q$  from a path space functor and observed that the loop space  $\Omega^Q \mathcal{F}$  of a fibrant object  $\mathcal{F}$  is a group object in the homotopy category Ho(M) of M. Up to Ho(M)-isomorphism a fibration sequence is then a Ho(M)-sequence  $K \to F \to \mathcal{F}$  that is implemented by the kernel K of a fibration  $F \to \mathcal{F}$ between fibrant objects F and  $\mathcal{F}$ , together with an action that is up to isomorphism some action of the group object  $\Omega^Q \mathcal{F}$  on K. This action induces a connecting Ho(M)-morphism  $\Omega^Q \mathcal{F} \to K$  and the sequence  $\Omega^Q \mathcal{F} \to K \to F$  is again a fibration sequence. Cofibration sequences are defined dually. Although it was clear from the beginning that (co)fibration sequences are closely related to triangulated categories, it was Hovey [22] who first proved that the homotopy category Ho(M) of a *stable pointed model category* M with (co)fibration sequences along with the connecting homomorphism as distinguished triangles, satisfies all axioms of the triangulated categories, including the octahedral axiom. In [33], Schwede shows that the constructions remain valid in the more general framework of cofibration (or fibration) categories.

A shortcoming of Verdier's defining axioms of a triangulated category is the wellknown fact that the mapping cone (resp., dually, the mapping fiber) is not functorial. This non-functoriality is an obstruction to the interpretation of the mapping cone (resp., the mapping fiber) as pushout (resp., pullback) along zero. More precisely, in a triangulated category, say Ho(M), where M is a stable pointed model category, there is no mapping cone (resp., no mapping fiber) functor  $Ho(M)^{\rightarrow} \rightarrow Ho(M)$ , where the source is the arrow category of the homotopy category. The idea to substitute the homotopy category  $Ho(M^{\rightarrow})$  of the arrow category of M to  $Ho(M)^{\rightarrow}$  and more generally to study diagrams Fun(I, M) before localizing, together with its implementation as the theory of *derivators*, was first proposed by Grothendieck [17], then further developed by many authors ([16], [18]–[20], [26]). In short, one considers homotopy categories Ho(Fun(I,M)) of diagram categories, together with pullbacks  $f^*$ : Ho(Fun(J,M))  $\rightarrow$  Ho(Fun(I,M)) and Kan extensions  $f_!, f_* : Ho(Fun(I, M)) \to Ho(Fun(J, M))$ . One defines homotopy (co)limits and in particular homotopy pullbacks and homotopy pushouts in terms of Kan extensions. Finally, the mapping cone and mapping fiber are both viewed as functors  $Ho(M^{\rightarrow}) \rightarrow Ho(M)$  and can actually be interpreted as homotopy pushout and homotopy pullback along zero.

In this paper, we also work in a general pointed model category (M, 0), we define a loop space functor  $\Omega$  from any 'dual cone functor' and define homotopy fiber sequences as commutative M-squares (A, B, C, D) such that A is a specific type of generalized representative of the homotopy pullback of  $C \to D \leftarrow B$  and the map  $C \to 0$  is a weak equivalence. Further, for every morphism  $f: F \to \mathcal{F}$  we define its homotopy fiber  $K_f$ such that  $K_f \to F \to \mathcal{F}$  is a homotopy fiber sequence. We get a universal connecting morphism  $\Omega \mathcal{F} \to K_f$  such that  $\Omega \mathcal{F} \to K_f \to F$  is also a homotopy fiber sequence.

It turns out that Quillen's loop space functor  $\Omega^Q$  is a loop space functor  $\Omega$  in the sense of the present paper. Further, an objectwise fibrant homotopy fiber sequence is a fibration sequence in Quillen's sense and our universal connecting morphism is the same as Quillen's connecting morphism induced by the action.

Although, as the previous descriptions show, the two theories are closely related, the new approach to homotopy fiber sequences or fibration sequences does not rely on the additional structure of an *action*. The point is that we use the homotopy theory of the category  $M^{\rightarrow}$  of M-morphisms, which contains all relevant information about homotopy fiber sequences of M. Moreover, we are convinced that our approach to homotopy fiber sequences will allow us to find a solution to the problem described above of interpreting the mapping cone and the mapping fiber as pushout and pullback along zero, within the framework of model categories and that we do not have to invoke the theory of *derivators*.

More precisely, the paper is organized as follows:

Understanding homotopy fiber sequences requires a good understanding of homotopy fiber squares, homotopy pullbacks, derived functors, and category localizations. However, there are a number of variants and indeterminacies for each of these concepts. A structured approach in a unifying context is suggested in [14] and [15]. In order to ensure an independent readability of our text, we recall in Chapter 2 the relevant results from [14] and [15], which we will need later.

In Chapter 3 we give the precise definition of the category h(M) (resp.,  $\ell(M)$ ) of homotopy fiber sequences (resp., long homotopy fiber sequences) in a pointed model category (M, 0). We define the homotopy category of these new categories and choose a model structure on the category  $M^{\rightarrow}$  of M-morphisms. We prove that the localization

$$\operatorname{Ho}(R_1) : \operatorname{Ho}(\ell(\mathbb{M})) \to \operatorname{Ho}(\mathbb{M}^{\to})$$

of the restriction  $R_1$  of long homotopy fiber sequences to their first two terms yields an equivalence of categories. This is arguably the deepest result of the present paper. To prove the equivalence theorem we construct the inverse up to natural isomorphisms and give an explicit description of the inverse of

$$\operatorname{Ho}(R_1)_{a_{\bullet},b_{\bullet}}:\operatorname{Hom}_{\operatorname{Ho}(\ell(\mathsf{M}))}(a_{\bullet},b_{\bullet})\to\operatorname{Hom}_{\operatorname{Ho}(\mathsf{M}^{\to})}(R_1(a_{\bullet}),R_1(b_{\bullet}))$$

(see pp. 14-26).

Mimicking definitions from algebraic topology, we define in Chapter 4 the notion of 'based path space functor' (dual to the 'cone functor') and the associated 'loop space functor'  $\Omega$  (which is well behaved with respect to fibrant objects, weak equivalences and homotopy fiber sequences, and whose derived functor is independent of the chosen based path space functor). We continue our abstraction of the topological situation and define concepts of homotopy fiber and universal connecting homomorphism that allow us to make sense of Puppe's sequence in the general setting considered. This leads to Puppe's functor  $\mathcal{P}: \mathbb{M}^{\rightarrow} \rightarrow \ell(\mathbb{M})$  whose value  $\mathcal{P}_f$  at  $f \in \mathbb{M}^{\rightarrow}$  is the unique  $\ell(\mathbb{M})$ -extension of f up to a canonical  $\operatorname{Ho}(\ell(\mathbb{M}))$ -isomorphism. The theory is valid in every pointed model category (in this general case it is natural to consider morphisms f with fibrant source and target) and in right proper pointed model categories (in this case we do not need the property that the source and target are fibrant). Just as Puppe's sequence of a fibration gives the fibration's long exact homotopy sequence in algebraic topology, we associate in any pointed model category M a family of long exact sequences of  $\operatorname{Ho}(\mathbb{M})$ -Hom-sets to Puppe's  $\ell(\mathbb{M})$ -extension of a morphism.

Chapter 5 contains a detailed account of the parallelism described above between Quillen's theory of fibration sequences and the theory of homotopy fiber sequences in the present work.

One of the advantages of the new theory is that it is easy to use. In Chapter 6 we apply it to the category of chain complexes of modules (both unbounded and non-negatively graded) and recover the long exact sequence in homology induced by a short exact sequence of chain complexes and chain maps as a special case of the long exact sequence of Ho(M)-Hom-sets of these chain maps. To this end, we consider the category of complexes first only as a pointed model category, then as a pointed monoidal model category. Although the two approaches naturally lead to different based path space functors, the Puppe extensions of a chain morphism coincide.

In the final Chapter 7, we briefly describe follow-up questions and expected applications. In addition, the theory we develop in this text should lead to advances in homotopical algebraic geometry [34, 35, 2, 3, 6] and higher supergeometry [7, 8, 9, 30], which are the contexts from which the need arose to examine the subjects of this paper.

**Conventions and notations.** We assume that the reader is familiar with model categories and adopt the definition of a model category that is used in [21]. More precisely, a model category is a category M that is equipped with three classes of morphisms called weak equivalences, fibrations and cofibrations. The category M has all small limits and colimits and the 2-out-of-3 axiom, the retract axiom and the lifting axiom are satisfied. Moreover M admits a functorial cofibration-trivial fibration factorization system, and a functorial trivial cofibration-fibration factorization system. Further, we work with the Quillen homotopy category Ho(M), which is a strict localization of M at its weak equivalences W with localization functor denoted  $\gamma_{M}$ , and we use the Kan extension derived functor operations  $\mathbb{L}^{K}$ ,  $\mathbb{R}^{K}$  and the strongly universal derived functor operations  $\mathbb{L}^{S}$ ,  $\mathbb{R}^{S}$ in the sense of [14]. We will consider different types of replacement, in particular local fibrant C-replacements, which means that for every  $X \in M$  we choose a fibrant replacement  $\tilde{F}X \to *$  of X such that the map  $f_X : X \xrightarrow{\sim} \tilde{F}X$  is a cofibration and is identity if X is already fibrant. If  $f : X \to Y$ , there is a lifting  $\tilde{F}f : \tilde{F}X \to \tilde{F}Y$ , which will play an important role:

#### 2. Models of homotopy pullbacks

We start recalling some results of [14] and [15].

The first theorem addresses the question of stability of a derived functor with respect to a change of definition (Kan extension versus strong universal property) and with respect to a change of the type of fibrant replacement used to compute it (local versus global).

THEOREM 2.1 ([14]). If  $G \in Fun(M, N)$  is a functor between model categories that sends weak equivalences between fibrant objects to weak equivalences, its Kan extension right derived functor

 $\mathbb{R}^{\mathrm{K}}G \in \mathrm{Fun}(\mathrm{Ho}(\mathrm{M}),\mathrm{Ho}(\mathrm{N}))$ 

and its strongly universal right derived functor

 $\mathbb{R}^{\mathrm{S}}G \in \mathrm{Fun}(\mathrm{Ho}(\mathrm{M}),\mathrm{Ho}(\mathrm{N}))$ 

exist and we have

$$\mathbb{R}^{\mathsf{K}}G \doteq \operatorname{Ho}(\gamma_{\mathbb{N}} \circ G \circ \tilde{F}) \doteq \mathbb{R}^{\mathsf{S}}_{R}G := \operatorname{Ho}(\gamma_{\mathbb{N}} \circ G \circ R) \xrightarrow{\cong} \mathbb{R}^{\mathsf{S}}G,$$
(2.1)

where  $\tilde{F}$  is a local fibrant C-replacement, R is a fibrant C-replacement functor and Ho the unique on the nose factorization through Ho(M). This implies that

$$\mathbb{R}^{\mathrm{K}}G \circ \gamma_{\mathrm{M}} \doteq \gamma_{\mathrm{N}} \circ G \circ \tilde{F} \doteq \mathbb{R}^{\mathrm{S}}_{R}G \circ \gamma_{\mathrm{M}} = \gamma_{\mathrm{N}} \circ G \circ R \stackrel{\cong}{\Longrightarrow} \mathbb{R}^{\mathrm{S}}G \circ \gamma_{\mathrm{M}}, \tag{2.2}$$

where  $\doteq$  denotes a canonical natural isomorphism and  $\stackrel{\cong}{\Rightarrow}$  a not necessarily canonical natural isomorphism.

The next corollary emphasizes that a derived or homotopy limit with respect to a suitable model structure  $\sigma$  on the diagram category under consideration belongs to a well defined isomorphism class of the target homotopy category, regardless of the definition of a derived functor and the fibrant replacement we use. Considered as an object of the target *model* category, a homotopy limit is thus only well defined up to a zigzag of weak equivalences. This indeterminacy is further increased by the ambiguity resulting from various choices for  $\sigma$ .

COROLLARY 2.2. Let S be a small category, let M be a model category and let  $\sigma$  be a model structure on the category Fun(S,M) of S-shaped diagrams of M such that Lim : Fun(S,M)  $\rightarrow$  M is a right Quillen functor. If  $X \in$  Fun(S,M), its homotopy limit with respect to  $\sigma$  is given as an object of M by

$$\mathbb{R}_{\sigma} \operatorname{Lim}(X) \approx \operatorname{Lim}(R_{\sigma}X) \stackrel{\sim}{\rightleftharpoons} \operatorname{Lim}(\tilde{F}_{\sigma}X) \stackrel{\sim}{\to} \operatorname{Lim}(F_{\sigma}X), \tag{2.3}$$

where  $\mathbb{R}_{\sigma} \operatorname{Lim}(X)$  can be interpreted as Kan extension or strongly universal derived functor, where  $\approx$  denotes a zigzag of weak equivalences and where  $R_{\sigma}, \tilde{F}_{\sigma}, F_{\sigma}$  are a fibrant *C*-replacement functor, a local fibrant *C*-replacement and any fibrant replacement in the model structure  $\sigma$ , respectively. The weak equivalence  $\xrightarrow{\sim}$  between the last two representatives is the universal morphism

$$\operatorname{Lim}(\ell_{\sigma}) : \operatorname{Lim}(F_{\sigma}X) \xrightarrow{\sim} \operatorname{Lim}(F_{\sigma}X) \tag{2.4}$$

that is induced by a lifting

and its image  $\gamma_{\mathbb{M}}(\operatorname{Lim}(\ell_{\sigma}))$  in homotopy is independent of the lifting considered. A similar remark holds for the weak equivalences  $\rightleftharpoons$ .

In the case  $S = I := \{c \to d \leftarrow b\}$  the functors  $X \in Fun(I, M)$  are the cospan diagrams  $C \to D \leftarrow B$  of M and the limit Lim(X) is the pullback  $B \times_D C$ . There are three Reedy model structures  $\sigma_i$  ( $i \in \{1, 2, 3\}$ ) on Fun(I, M), for which the pullback is a right Quillen functor. The homotopy limits  $\mathbb{R}_{\sigma_i} Lim(X)$  with respect to the  $\sigma_i$  are called homotopy pullbacks and are denoted by  $B \times_D^{h\sigma_i} C$ . It can be proven that common representatives

exist. We define the full homotopy pullback  $B \times_D^h C$  such that its canonical representatives are exactly the representatives of all three homotopy pullbacks  $B \times_D^{h_{\sigma_i}} C$   $(i \in \{1, 2.3\})$ . This leads to

THEOREM 2.3 ([15]). The full homotopy pullback of a cospan  $C \to D \leftarrow B$  in a model category is independent of the type of derived functor and of the model structure  $\sigma_i$  $(i \in \{1, 2, 3\})$  on cospan diagrams considered. We get the canonical representatives of the full homotopy pullback from the standard pullback of the weakly equivalent cospans  $C' \to D' \leftarrow B'$  with three fibrant objects and at least one morphism that is a fibration: if in the adjacent commutative squares



all vertical arrows are weak equivalences, all bottom nods are fibrant objects and at least one of the bottom arrows is a fibration, then we have

$$B \times^{h}_{D} C \approx B' \times_{D'} C'. \tag{2.7}$$

We increase the flexibility of homotopy limits, homotopy pullbacks and full homotopy pullbacks by allowing generalized representatives. In the case of full homotopy pullbacks, we have

THEOREM 2.4. The vertex A of the span of a commutative square

$$\begin{array}{cccc}
A \longrightarrow B \\
\downarrow & & \downarrow \\
C \longrightarrow D
\end{array}$$
(2.8)

in a model category is a model or generalized representative of the full homotopy pullback  $B \times^h_D C$  if the universal morphism from A to a canonical representative of  $B \times^h_D C$  is a weak equivalence. In other words, there must exist a cospan  $C' \to D' \leftarrow B'$  to which  $C \to D \leftarrow B$  is weakly equivalent, whose three nodes are fibrant objects and at least one of whose morphisms is a fibration, such that the universal morphism  $A \to B' \times_{D'} C'$  is a weak equivalence.

If the condition of Theorem 2.4 is satisfied for one replacement, it is satisfied for all replacements.

In right proper model categories, we can weaken the condition:

THEOREM 2.5 ([15]). The vertex A of the span of a commutative square (2.8) in a right proper model category is a model of the full homotopy pullback  $B \times_D^h C$  if there exists a cospan  $C' \to D' \leftarrow B'$  to which  $C \to D \leftarrow B$  is weakly equivalent and at least one of whose morphisms is a fibration, such that the universal morphism  $A \to B' \times_{D'} C'$  is a weak equivalence. Again, if the condition of Theorem 2.5 is satisfied for one replacement with one fibration, it is satisfied for all replacements of this type.

The following corollary is stated without proof in [25]:

COROLLARY 2.6 ([15]). In a model category the standard pullback  $B \times_D C$  of a cospan  $C \xrightarrow{g} D \xleftarrow{f} B$  is a model of the cospan's full homotopy pullback if at least one of the morphisms f or g is a fibration and either all three objects B, C, D are fibrant or the model category is right proper.

Further, the concept of model of a homotopy pullback captures the notion of homotopy fiber square defined in [21] and puts it in the right context.

COROLLARY 2.7 ([15]). In a right proper model category with a fixed functorial trivial cofibration-fibration factorization system, a commutative square (2.8) is a model square, i.e., its vertex A is a model of the homotopy pullback  $B \times_D^h C$  if and only if it is a homotopy fiber square in the sense of [21].

There is a pasting law for model squares.

Proposition 2.8 ([15]). Let



be a commutative diagram in a model category. If the right square is a model square, then the left square is a model square if and only if the total square is a model square.

The next result generalizes a property of homotopy fiber squares in a right proper model category with a fixed functorial trivial cofibration–fibration factorization system to model squares in an arbitrary model category.

PROPOSITION 2.9 ([15]). Let ABCD and A'B'C'D' be two commutative squares in a model category M. If there exist four M-morphisms from the vertices of the first square to the corresponding vertices of the other one such that the four resulting squares commute and if these M-morphisms are weak equivalences, then the first square is a model square if and only if the other one is.



Later we need

**PROPOSITION 2.10.** Any commutative square ABCD in a model category whose vertical (or horizontal) arrows are weak equivalences is a model square.

*Proof.* We apply a fibrant C-replacement functor R to the commutative square ABCD and factor the morphism

$$R(B \xrightarrow{\kappa} D) = RB \xrightarrow{R\kappa} RD = RB \xrightarrow{\sim} F(R\kappa) \twoheadrightarrow RD$$

into a weak equivalence followed by a fibration. Moreover, we set  $P := F(R\kappa) \times_{RD} RC$ and thus get the following commutative diagram:



As trivial fibrations are closed under pullbacks in any model category, the arrow  $P \to RC$  is a trivial fibration, hence a weak equivalence. It follows that  $A \to P$  is a weak equivalence, so that ABCD is a model square.

PROPOSITION 2.11. Let  $G : \mathbb{M} \to \mathbb{N}$  be a right Quillen functor and let ABCD be a commutative square of  $\mathbb{M}$  with fibrant vertices. If ABCD is a model square of  $\mathbb{M}$ , then its image G(ABCD) is a model square of  $\mathbb{N}$ .

*Proof.* We factor  $B \xrightarrow{\kappa} D = B \xrightarrow{\sim} F(\kappa) \twoheadrightarrow D$  into a weak equivalence followed by a fibration. Further, we set  $P := F(\kappa) \times_D C$  and get the commutative cube



Since ABCD is a model square, the universal arrow  $A \rightarrow P$  is a weak equivalence. As fibrations are closed under pullbacks, the arrow  $P \rightarrow C$  is a fibration and all vertices of (2.12) are fibrant objects.

The image of (2.12) under G is the commutative cube



Since right adjoint functors preserve limits, we have  $GP = G(F(\kappa)) \times_{GD} GC$  and the arrow  $GA \to GP$  is the universal arrow from GA to the pullback of the front cospan. As G is a right Quillen functor, it preserves weak equivalences between fibrant objects (in view of Brown's lemma), so that the universal arrow  $GA \to GP$  and the arrow  $GB \to G(F(\kappa))$  are weak equivalences  $(\star_1)$ . As G preserves fibrations (by definition of a right Quillen functor), the arrow  $G(F(\kappa)) \to GD$  is a fibration  $(\star_2)$ . Furthermore, the terminal object  $*_{\mathbb{M}}$  of  $\mathbb{M}$  is the limit  $\lim \emptyset_{\mathbb{M}}$  of the unique functor  $\emptyset_{\mathbb{M}} \in \operatorname{Fun}(\emptyset, \mathbb{M})$  from the empty category  $\emptyset$  to  $\mathbb{M}$ . Hence, if  $\mathsf{F} \in \mathbb{M}$  is fibrant, we get

$$G(\mathsf{F} \twoheadrightarrow *_{\mathsf{M}}) = G(\mathsf{F} \twoheadrightarrow \operatorname{Lim} \emptyset_{\mathsf{M}}) = G\mathsf{F} \twoheadrightarrow \operatorname{Lim} G(\emptyset_{\mathsf{M}}) = G\mathsf{F} \twoheadrightarrow \operatorname{Lim} \emptyset_{\mathsf{N}} = G\mathsf{F} \twoheadrightarrow *_{\mathsf{N}}, \quad (2.14)$$

so that G preserves fibrant objects and all vertices of (2.13) are fibrant  $(\star_3)$ . From  $(\star_1)$ ,  $(\star_2)$  and  $(\star_3)$  it follows that the back square G(ABCD) of (2.13) is a model square of N.

#### 3. Long homotopy fiber sequences

**3.1. Definitions.** Let M be a *pointed model category*, i.e., a model category with a zero object 0 (a model category whose initial and terminal objects coincide).

It is natural to refer to the pullback  $A := B \times_D 0$  of an M-morphism  $B \to D$  over the point  $0 \to D$  as the fiber of  $B \to D$  and to call  $A \to B \to D$  a fiber sequence. The following generalization is crucial:

DEFINITION 3.1. A homotopy fiber sequence  $A \to B \to D$  in a pointed model category M is a model square ABCD in M whose left lower vertex C is acyclic.

Since an object  $C \in M$  is acyclic if the unique morphism  $0 \to C$  is a weak equivalence (or equivalently if the unique morphism  $C \to 0$  is a weak equivalence), a homotopy fiber sequence is a commutative square whose left upper vertex is a model of the homotopy pullback of the square's cospan and whose left lower vertex is weakly equivalent to zero. We stress that, although the left lower vertex C is implicit in the notation  $A \to B \to D$ of the homotopy fiber sequence, it is an integral part of it.

Morphisms of homotopy fiber sequences are therefore defined as morphisms of commutative squares, i.e., as commutative cubes. Explicitly a morphism of homotopy fiber sequences from  $A_2 \to A_1 \to A_0$  with implicit vertex  $C_A$  to  $B_2 \to B_1 \to B_0$  with implicit vertex  $C_B$  is a quadruplet

$$\Phi = (\phi_0, \phi_1, \phi_2, \varphi)$$

of M-morphisms

$$\phi_i: A_i \to B_i \quad (i \in \{0, 1, 2\}) \quad \text{and} \quad \varphi: C_A \to C_B,$$

such that the resulting cube commutes. So composition of morphisms of homotopy fiber sequences is induced by the composition of M. We denote by h(M) the category of homotopy fiber sequences of M. Further, we denote by

$$a = (a_1, a_2)$$

a homotopy fiber sequence

$$A_2 \xrightarrow{a_2} A_1 \xrightarrow{a_1} A_0$$

DEFINITION 3.2. In a pointed model category a long homotopy fiber sequence

$$a_{\bullet} = (a_1, a_2, a_3, \ldots) \tag{3.1}$$

or more explicitly

$$(A_{\bullet}, a_{\bullet}) : \dots \longrightarrow A_3 \xrightarrow{a_3} A_2 \xrightarrow{a_2} A_1 \xrightarrow{a_1} A_0$$

is a sequence of homotopy fiber sequences

$$A_{n+1} \xrightarrow{a_{n+1}} A_n \xrightarrow{a_n} A_{n-1} \quad (n \in \{1, 2, \ldots\}).$$

$$(3.2)$$

It is natural to define a morphism of long homotopy fiber sequences as a sequence of morphisms of homotopy fiber sequences. Explicitly a morphism  $\Phi_{\bullet}$  of long homotopy fiber sequences from  $(A_{\bullet}, a_{\bullet})$  to  $(B_{\bullet}, b_{\bullet})$  is a sequence

$$\Phi_{\bullet} = (\phi_0, \phi_1, \phi_2, \phi_3, \dots, \varphi_1, \varphi_2, \dots)$$
(3.3)

of morphisms

$$\Phi_n = (\phi_{n-1}, \phi_n, \phi_{n+1}, \varphi_n) \quad (n \in \{1, 2, \dots\})$$
(3.4)

of homotopy fiber sequences from

$$A_{n+1} \xrightarrow{a_{n+1}} A_n \xrightarrow{a_n} A_{n-1}$$
 to  $B_{n+1} \xrightarrow{b_{n+1}} B_n \xrightarrow{b_n} B_{n-1}$ 

Composition of morphisms of long homotopy fiber sequences is again induced by the composition in M. We denote by  $\ell(M)$  the category of long homotopy fiber sequences of M. Moreover, we say that a homotopy fiber sequence (resp., a long homotopy fiber sequence) of M is *objectwise fibrant* if its four vertices are fibrant objects of M (resp., if all homotopy fiber sequences (3.2) are objectwise fibrant). We also say that a morphism of homotopy fiber sequences (resp., of long homotopy fiber sequences) of M is an *objectwise weak equivalence* if its four component morphisms are weak equivalences of M (resp., if all morphisms of homotopy fiber sequences (3.4) are objectwise weak equivalences).

We close this section with the following corollary of Proposition 2.11:

COROLLARY 3.3. Let  $G : \mathbb{M} \to \mathbb{N}$  be a right Quillen functor between pointed model categories. The image under G of an objectwise fibrant (long) homotopy fiber sequence of M is a (long) homotopy fiber sequence of N.

*Proof.* If suffices to remember that a right Quillen functor G preserves weak equivalences between fibrant objects and preserves the (fibrant) zero object (see (2.14)).

15

REMARK 3.4. We will show below that in a pointed model category it is often possible to extend a morphism to a long homotopy fiber sequence. In the next section we address the question of uniqueness of such an extension if it exists.

**3.2. Homotopy theory of long homotopy fiber sequences.** Let C be a category and W a family of C-morphisms. The Gabriel-Zisman localization or zigzag localization of C at W is (at least in a higher universe) a pair  $(C[[W^{-1}]], \gamma)$  that consists of a category  $C[[W^{-1}]]$  and a functor  $\gamma : C \to C[[W^{-1}]]$  which sends all morphisms in W to isomorphisms. Further, every functor out of C with this property factors uniquely and on the nose through  $C[[W^{-1}]]$ . Because of its universal property, the zigzag localization is unique up to a unique isomorphism. It is the strong localization of C at W [14] and is constructed by free inversion of the morphisms of W. More precisely, the description of  $(C[[W^{-1}]], \gamma)$  is exactly the one given in [14] in the case of the homotopy category of a model category. As already mentioned, the localized category does not have to be locally small, so we implicitly move to a higher universe in order to get a genuine category. If the definition of W is clear, we usually refer to  $C[[W^{-1}]]$  as the homotopy category of C and denote it by Ho(C).

In the case of the category  $\ell(M)$  of long homotopy fiber sequences of a pointed model category M, we choose the objectwise weak equivalences for W and consider the homotopy category  $Ho(\ell(M))$  in the previous sense.

Since we are interested in possible extensions of an M-morphism to a long homotopy fiber sequence of M, we need not only the categories  $\ell(M)$  and  $Ho(\ell(M))$ , but also the category  $M^{\rightarrow}$  of M-morphisms

$$A_1 \xrightarrow{a_1} A_0 \tag{3.5}$$

and commutative squares

and its homotopy category  $\operatorname{Ho}(M^{\rightarrow})$ . To give a meaning to the latter, we endow the category  $M^{\rightarrow}$  with a model structure, so that its zigzag localization at its weak equivalences, which is its Quillen homotopy category, is a genuine category without us passing into a larger universe (see for example [14, Theorem 2]). To find a model structure, notice that  $M^{\rightarrow}$  is the functor category  $\operatorname{Fun}(I, M)$ , where I is the inverse category  $I = \{1 \rightarrow 0\}$ . In the case of such simple Reedy categories, the corresponding Reedy model structure is the injective model structure with objectwise weak equivalences and cofibrations (details can be found for instance in [15]). We equip  $M^{\rightarrow}$  with this model structure.

To study the above-mentioned extension problem, we introduce the *restriction functor* 

$$R_1: \ell(\mathsf{M}) \to \mathsf{M}^{\to},$$

which we define on objects as  $R_1 a_{\bullet} = a_1$  (see (3.1)) and on morphisms as  $R_1 \Phi_{\bullet} = (\phi_1, \phi_0)$  (see (3.3)). The functor  $\gamma_{M} \to \circ R_1$  sends objectwise weak equivalences of  $\ell(M)$ 

to isomorphisms of  $Ho(M^{\rightarrow})$  and therefore factors uniquely through  $Ho(\ell(M)):$  there is a unique functor

 $\operatorname{Ho}(R_1):\operatorname{Ho}(\ell(\mathbb{M}))\to\operatorname{Ho}(\mathbb{M}^{\to})\quad \text{such that}\quad \gamma_{\mathbb{M}^{\to}}\circ R_1=\operatorname{Ho}(R_1)\circ \gamma_{\ell(\mathbb{M})}.$ 

THEOREM 3.5. Let M be a pointed model category. The localization

 $\operatorname{Ho}(R_1): \operatorname{Ho}(\ell(\mathbb{M})) \to \operatorname{Ho}(\mathbb{M}^{\to})$ 

of the restriction functor of long homotopy fiber sequences yields an equivalence of categories between the homotopy category of the category of long homotopy fiber sequences of M and the homotopy category of the category of morphisms of M.

REMARK 3.6. The categorical equivalence means that the localized functor  $Ho(R_1)$  is essentially surjective and fully faithful. In other words, every M-morphism is up to an isomorphism the restriction of a long homotopy fiber sequence and, for any  $a_{\bullet}, b_{\bullet} \in \ell(M)$ , the map

$$\operatorname{Ho}(R_1)_{a_{\bullet}b_{\bullet}} : \operatorname{Hom}_{\operatorname{Ho}(\ell(\mathsf{M}))}(a_{\bullet}, b_{\bullet}) \to \operatorname{Hom}_{\operatorname{Ho}(\mathsf{M}^{\to})}(a_1, b_1)$$
(3.7)

is a 1:1 correspondence. Alternatively, the equivalence means that  $Ho(R_1)$  has an inverse up to natural isomorphisms. To prove the theorem we construct this inverse.

LEMMA 3.7. Let M be a pointed model category. There exists a functor  $E: \mathbb{M}^{\to} \to \ell(\mathbb{M})$  that preserves weak equivalences and sends morphisms  $a \in \mathbb{M}^{\to}$  to long homotopy fiber sequences  $f^a_{\bullet}$  made up of fibrations  $f^a_n: F^a_n \to F^a_{n-1}$  between fibrant objects  $(n \in \{1, 2, \ldots\})$ .

REMARK 3.8. In the following we use a fixed functorial trivial cofibration-fibration factorization system  $(\alpha, \beta)$  and the induced fibrant C-replacement functor R.

Proof of Lemma 3.7. Let  $a_1, b_1$  be objects of  $\mathbb{M}^{\rightarrow}$  and  $\psi = (\psi_0, \psi_1)$  an  $\mathbb{M}^{\rightarrow}$ -morphism between them (see (3.6)). We will construct E simultaneously and inductively on these objects and this morphism, i.e., we construct inductively long homotopy fiber sequences  $E(a_1) =: f_{\bullet}^{a_1}$  and  $E(b_1) =: f_{\bullet}^{b_1}$  and a morphism  $E(\psi) =: \Phi_{\bullet}$  of long homotopy fiber sequences between them. We start from the commutative diagram  $\psi$  and use the chosen replacement functor and factorization system to get the commutative diagram

$$\begin{array}{cccc}
RA_{1} & \xrightarrow{\alpha(Ra_{1})} & F(Ra_{1}) & \xrightarrow{\beta(Ra_{1})} & RA_{0} \\
 & & & & \downarrow & & \downarrow \\
R\psi_{1} & & & \downarrow & & \downarrow \\
RB_{1} & \xrightarrow{\alpha(Rb_{1})} & F(Rb_{1}) & \xrightarrow{\beta(Rb_{1})} & RB_{0}
\end{array}$$
(3.8)

We denote the upper and lower fibrations between fibrant objects by  $f_1^{a_1}: F_1^{a_1} \to F_0^{a_1}$  and  $f_1^{b_1}: F_1^{b_1} \to F_0^{b_1}$ , respectively. It is clear that if  $\psi$  is a weak equivalence, all the vertical arrows in (3.8) are weak equivalences, in particular the central arrow  $\phi_1: F_1^{a_1} \to F_1^{b_1}$  and the right arrow  $\phi_0: F_0^{a_1} \to F_0^{b_1}$ . Assume now that the long homotopy fiber sequences  $f_{\bullet}^{a_1}, f_{\bullet}^{b_1}$  (resp., the morphism  $\Phi_{\bullet}$  between them) have (resp., has) been constructed together with their implicit vertices (resp., its implicit arrows) and with all the required properties, up to order  $n \geq 1$ . If we apply the functorial factorization  $(\alpha, \beta)$  to  $0 \to F_{n-1}^{a_1}$ 

and  $0 \to F_{n-1}^{b_1}$ , we get the commutative diagram

in which  $F_{n+1}^{a_1}$  and  $F_{n+1}^{b_1}$  are pullbacks and  $\phi_{n+1}$  is the universal morphism. Both pullback diagrams are canonically homotopy fiber sequences and, as already mentioned, the cube is commutative. So we have built two long homotopy fiber sequences  $E(a_1) = f_{\bullet}^{a_1}$  and  $E(b_1) = f_{\bullet}^{b_1}$  and a morphism  $E(\psi) = \Phi_{\bullet}$  between them. Since  $(\alpha, \beta)$  is functorial (and the induced R is a functor), the assignment  $\psi \mapsto E(\psi) = \Phi_{\bullet}$  respects compositions and identities: E is a functor  $E: \mathbb{M}^{\to} \to \ell(\mathbb{M})$ . Since fibrations are closed under pullbacks, the morphisms  $f_{n+1}^{a_1}, f_{n+1}^{b_1}$  are fibrations and the objects  $F_{n+1}^{a_1}, F_{n+1}^{b_1}$  are fibrant. Finally, the cospans of the back and the front square are fibrant in the injective model structure (see for instance [15]). Now, if  $\phi_{n-1}$  and  $\phi_n$  are weak equivalences, these fibrant cospans are weakly equivalent, as  $\varphi_n$  is obviously a weak equivalence. However, the pullback functor is a right Quillen functor if the category of cospans is equipped with its injective model structure is a functor. This means that  $E(\psi) = \Phi_{\bullet}$  is an objectwise weak equivalences:  $\phi_{n+1}$  is a weak equivalence.  $\bullet$ 

LEMMA 3.9. Let M be a pointed model category. There exists a functor  $I : \ell(M) \to \ell(M)$ that preserves weak equivalences and sends long homotopy fiber sequences  $a_{\bullet}$  to long homotopy fiber sequences  $\mathfrak{f}^a_{\bullet}$  made up of fibrations  $\mathfrak{f}^a_n : \mathfrak{F}^a_n \to \mathfrak{F}^a_{n-1}$  between fibrant objects  $(n \in \{1, 2, \ldots\}).$ 

*Proof.* Let  $a_{\bullet}, b_{\bullet}$  be objects of  $\ell(M)$  and  $\Psi_{\bullet}$  an  $\ell(M)$ -morphism between them. We will construct I simultaneously and inductively on these objects and this morphism. In other words, we will construct long homotopy fiber sequences  $I(a_{\bullet}) =: \mathfrak{f}_{\bullet}^{a}$  and  $I(b_{\bullet}) =: \mathfrak{f}_{\bullet}^{b}$  and a morphism  $I(\Psi_{\bullet}) =: \Theta_{\bullet}$  of long homotopy fiber sequences between them. At the same time we build step by step a natural weak equivalence  $\omega : \mathrm{id}_{\ell(M)} \xrightarrow{\simeq} I$ , i.e., we build step by step a commutative diagram

$$\begin{array}{cccc} a_{\bullet} & \xrightarrow{\omega_{\bullet}^{a}} & \mathfrak{f}_{\bullet}^{a} \\ \downarrow \Psi_{\bullet} & \qquad \downarrow \Theta_{\bullet} \\ b_{\bullet} & \xrightarrow{\omega_{\bullet}^{b}} & \mathfrak{f}_{\bullet}^{b} \end{array} \tag{3.10}$$

If we apply  $R_1$  to  $\Psi_{\bullet} : a_{\bullet} \to b_{\bullet}$ , we get  $\psi = (\psi_0, \psi_1) : a_1 \to b_1$ , and if we apply E to the latter, we get  $\Phi_{\bullet} : f_{\bullet}^{a_1} \to f_{\bullet}^{b_1}$ . We choose the first two terms  $\phi = (\phi_0, \phi_1) : f_1^{a_1} \to f_1^{b_1}$  of  $\Phi_{\bullet}$  as the first two terms  $\theta = (\theta_0, \theta_1) : f_1^a \to f_1^b$  of  $\Theta_{\bullet}$  (this includes choosing the first

two terms  $(F_0^{a_1}, F_1^{a_1})$  as the first two terms  $(\mathfrak{F}_0^a, \mathfrak{F}_1^a)$  and similarly for b). Let us remember that above we defined  $\theta$  as follows (see diagram (3.8)):



Diagram (3.10) is a diagram in  $\ell(M)$ , so that every arrow is a sequence of commutative cubes. Its commutativity means that the *n*th cube of the down-right composite (which is the composite of a cube  $A \rightsquigarrow B$  and a cube  $B \rightsquigarrow \mathfrak{F}^b$ , where  $\rightsquigarrow$  denotes a morphism between squares) coincides with the *n*th cube of the right-down composite (which is the composite of a cube  $A \rightsquigarrow \mathfrak{F}^a$  and a cube  $\mathfrak{F}^a \rightsquigarrow \mathfrak{F}^b$ ), for every  $n \in \{1, 2, \ldots\}$ . The commutative diagram (3.11) means that half of this condition is satisfied for the first cubes and it shows that  $\omega^a = (\omega_0^a, \omega_1^a) : a_1 \to \mathfrak{f}_1^a$  and  $\omega^b$  consist of two weak equivalences and that  $\theta$  is made up of weak equivalences if  $\psi$  is. Assume now that the sequences  $\mathfrak{F}^a_{\bullet}, \mathfrak{F}^b_{\bullet}, \mathfrak{f}^a_{\bullet}, \mathfrak{f}^b_{\bullet}, \omega^a_{\bullet}, \omega^b_{\bullet}$  and  $\Theta_{\bullet}$  have been constructed with all the required properties and implicit vertices or arrows up to order  $n \geq 1$  and that the commutation condition of diagram (3.10) is fulfilled up to half the condition for the *n*th cubes.



In (3.12), the back commutative square of the right cube is a homotopy fiber sequence of  $a_{\bullet}$ . The right commutative square of this cube is given by  $\omega_n^a$ ,  $a_n$ ,  $\mathfrak{f}_n^a$  and  $\omega_{n-1}^a$ . To get the lower commutative square, we decompose  $C_{A_n} \to \mathfrak{F}_{n-1}^a$  into a weak equivalence followed by a fibration using our fixed functorial factorization (see Remark 3.8). Now we take the pullback

$$\mathfrak{F}_{n+1}^a := \mathfrak{F}_n^a \times_{\mathfrak{F}_{n-1}^a} C_{\mathfrak{F}_n^a},$$

use the fact that fibrations are closed under pullbacks, and complete the right commuta-

tive cube by the universal arrow  $A_{n+1} \to \mathfrak{F}_{n+1}^a$ . Since the back square is in particular a model square, this universal arrow is a weak equivalence. The left commutative cube is constructed similarly. As a result of Corollary 2.6 the square  $\mathfrak{F}^a$  (the front square of the right commutative cube) is a homotopy fiber sequence and extends  $\mathfrak{f}^a_{\bullet}$  or  $(\mathfrak{F}^a_{\bullet}, \mathfrak{f}^a_{\bullet})$  which is made up of fibrations between fibrant objects to order n + 1. Analogously the square  $\mathfrak{F}^b$  extends  $(\mathfrak{F}^b_{\bullet}, \mathfrak{f}^b_{\bullet})$ . The commutative cube  $A \rightsquigarrow \mathfrak{F}^a$  (resp.,  $B \rightsquigarrow \mathfrak{F}^b$ ) is an objectwise weak equivalence of homotopy fiber sequences that extends the  $\ell(M)$ -morphism  $\omega^a_{\bullet}$  (resp.,  $\omega^b_{\bullet}$ ) to order n + 1.

We now describe the six cubes of diagram (3.12) that contain sloping arrows to the left. In fact, the top and bottom of these cubes are fully described as soon as the two back and two front cubes are. The commutative back cube  $A \rightsquigarrow B$  is a cube of the sequence  $\Psi_{\bullet} : a_{\bullet} \to b_{\bullet}$ . The front cube  $A\mathfrak{F}^a \rightsquigarrow B\mathfrak{F}^b$  is a counterpart in order n to the commutative cube (3.11) and it is commutative in view of the induction assumption that the commutation condition of diagram (3.10) is satisfied up to half the condition for the nth cubes. Since the trivial cofibration-fibration factorization system used is functorial, the commutative rectangle

induces a central vertical arrow that makes the left and right squares (which are two of the six bottom squares of (3.12)) commutative. The universal arrow  $\mathfrak{F}_{n+1}^a \dashrightarrow \mathfrak{F}_{n+1}^b$  renders the upper and left square of the front cube  $\mathfrak{F}^a \rightsquigarrow \mathfrak{F}^b$  commutative. Finally, in the back cube  $A\mathfrak{F}^a C \rightsquigarrow B\mathfrak{F}^b C$ , the top square is commutative because of the uniqueness of the universal arrow. This completes the description of the fully commutative diagram (3.12). Notice that the commutative cube  $\mathfrak{F}^a \rightsquigarrow \mathfrak{F}^b$  extends  $\Theta_{\bullet}$  to order n + 1 and remember that we still have to show that the complete commutative, to condition for the *n*th cubes is now fulfilled, that is, the composite cubes  $A \rightsquigarrow B \rightsquigarrow \mathfrak{F}^b$  and  $A \rightsquigarrow \mathfrak{F}^a \rightsquigarrow \mathfrak{F}^b$  in (3.12) coincide. Since the diagram (3.12) is fully commutative, this requirement is met. As the full commutation condition for the *n*th cubes includes the first half of the condition for the (n+1)th cubes, induction works. Eventually, if  $\Psi_{\bullet}$  is an objectwise weak equivalence. This completes the proof.  $\blacksquare$ 

From the previous proof it follows that:

COROLLARY 3.10. There is a natural weak equivalence

$$\omega : \mathrm{id}_{\ell(\mathsf{M})} \xrightarrow{\sim} I.$$

The next lemma will allow us to prove Theorem 3.5.

LEMMA 3.11. There are natural weak equivalences

$$\varpi: \mathrm{id}_{\mathsf{M}^{\to}} \xrightarrow{\simeq} R_1 \circ E \quad and \quad \upsilon: E \circ R_1 \xrightarrow{\simeq} I.$$

*Proof.* If we go back to the original notation in the diagram (3.11), we have the commutative cube

for every  $\mathbb{M}^{\rightarrow}$ -morphism  $\psi = (\psi_0, \psi_1) : a_1 \to b_1$ . The  $\mathbb{M}^{\rightarrow}$ -morphism  $\varpi^{a_1} : a_1 \to f_1^{a_1}$  is the upper commutative square which is a weak equivalence as it should be. The naturality of  $\varpi$  precisely means that the total left square and the right square commute, which is the case.

Next we construct v by proceeding similarly to the proof of Lemma 3.9. For every  $a_{\bullet} \in \ell(\mathbb{M})$  we must define an  $\ell(\mathbb{M})$ -morphism  $v_{\bullet}^{a} : f_{\bullet}^{a_{1}} \xrightarrow{\sim} f_{\bullet}^{a}$ , i.e., we have to define a sequence of commutative cubes which are objectwise weak equivalences. Moreover, for every  $\ell(\mathbb{M})$ -morphism  $\Psi_{\bullet} : a_{\bullet} \to b_{\bullet}$ , we must show that the diagram

commutes (we have used the notations introduced above). Since we set  $\mathfrak{f}_1^a = \mathfrak{f}_1^{a_1}$  (see proof of Lemma 3.9), we choose the identity maps as first two components  $v^a = (v_0^a, v_1^a) :$  $\mathfrak{f}_1^{a_1} \to \mathfrak{f}_1^a$  of  $v_{\bullet}^a$ . Since we also set  $(\theta_0, \theta_1) = (\phi_0, \phi_1)$ , the naturality condition is so far fulfilled. Assume now that the sequences  $v_{\bullet}^a, v_{\bullet}^b$  of commutative cubes which are objectwise weak equivalences have been constructed with their implicit arrows up to order  $n \ge 1$ and that the commutation condition of (3.15) is fulfilled up to half the condition for *n*th cubes.

To extend the sequences and the commutativity to order n+1, we start by describing the total parallelepiped in the diagram

$$0 \xrightarrow{\sim} C_{F_n^{a_1}} \xrightarrow{\rightarrow} F_{n-1}^{a_1}$$

$$0 \xrightarrow{\sim} C_{F_n^{b_1}} \xrightarrow{\swarrow} F_{n-1}^{b_1} \xrightarrow{\checkmark} \\ \downarrow^{\sim} C_{A_n} \xrightarrow{\sim} C_{\mathfrak{F}_n^{b_1}} \xrightarrow{\swarrow} C_{\mathfrak{F}_n^{a_1}} \xrightarrow{\sim} \mathfrak{F}_{n-1}^{a_1} \xrightarrow{\sim} C_{\mathfrak{F}_n^{a_1}} \xrightarrow{\sim} \mathfrak{F}_{n-1}^{a_1} \xrightarrow{\sim} \mathfrak{F}_{n-1}^{a_1} \xrightarrow{\sim} C_{\mathfrak{F}_n^{a_1}} \xrightarrow{\sim} \mathfrak{F}_{n-1}^{a_1} \xrightarrow{\sim}$$

The arrow  $F_{n-1}^{a_1} \to F_{n-1}^{b_1}$  is  $\phi_{n-1}$ , the arrow  $F_{n-1}^{a_1} \to \mathfrak{F}_{n-1}^a$  is  $v_{n-1}^a$ , the arrow  $C_{A_n} \to \mathfrak{F}_{n-1}^a$  is the composite of  $C_{A_n} \to A_{n-1}$  in  $a_{\bullet}$  and  $\omega_{n-1}^a : A_{n-1} \to \mathfrak{F}_{n-1}^a$  (see Corollary 3.10), the

arrow  $C_{A_n} \to C_{B_n}$  is the implicit arrow in the *n*th cube of  $\Psi_{\bullet}$ , and  $\mathfrak{F}_{n-1}^a \to \mathfrak{F}_{n-1}^b$  is  $\theta_{n-1}$ . All four rectangles of the parallelepiped commute (for the commutativity of the lower rectangle, see the commutative diagram (3.12)). By definition, we get the vertex  $C_{F_n^{a_1}}$  (resp.,  $C_{\mathfrak{F}_n^a}$ ), if we apply the fixed functorial trivial cofibration–fibration factorization system (see Remark 3.8) to  $0 \to F_{n-1}^{a_1}$  (resp.,  $C_{A_n} \to \mathfrak{F}_{n-1}^a$ ). Since the system is functorial, we also get the five central arrows,  $S_1, S_2, S_3, S_4$  and the diagonal arrow. A priori we even get two diagonal arrows, one, say  $D_1$ , induced by the commutative square, which is made up of the top and front rectangle, and one,  $D_2$ , from the commutative square, which is made up of the back and bottom rectangle. From the functoriality of the factorization system it follows that  $D_1 = S_3 \circ S_1$  and  $D_2 = S_4 \circ S_2$ . However, these two commutative squares coincide as the right square of (3.16) commutes (since half of the commutation condition is satisfied for the *n*th cubes that correspond to (3.15)), so that  $D_1 = D_2$ , i.e., so that the central square of (3.16) commutes.

In the right cube of the following diagram (3.17)



the right commutative square is given by  $v_n^a$ ,  $f_n^{a_1}$ ,  $f_n^a$  and  $v_{n-1}^a$ . The lower commutative square is the right back square of diagram (3.16). The vertices  $F_{n+1}^{a_1}$  and  $\mathfrak{F}_{n+1}^a$  have been defined as pullbacks and the resulting commutative squares identified as homotopy fiber sequences. Since the back pullback square is a homotopy fiber sequence, the universal dashed arrow between these vertices is a weak equivalence. Hence the right commutative cube in (3.17) extends the sequence  $v_{\bullet}^a$  to order n+1. The left commutative cube is built similarly and it extends  $v_{\bullet}^b$  to order n+1. The objectwise weak equivalence condition is satisfied.

We now describe the six cubes in diagram (3.17) that contain sloping arrows to the left. In fact, the top and bottom of these cubes are fully described as soon as the two back and two front cubes are. The back cube  $F^{a_1} \rightsquigarrow F^{b_1}$  (resp., front cube  $\mathfrak{F}^a \rightsquigarrow \mathfrak{F}^b$ ) is part of  $\Phi_{\bullet}$  (resp., of  $\Theta_{\bullet}$ ) and therefore it commutes. The front cube  $F^{a_1}\mathfrak{F}^a \rightsquigarrow F^{b_1}\mathfrak{F}^b$ is commutative because of the induction assumption that the commutation condition of diagram (3.15) is satisfied up to half the condition for the *n*th cubes. Finally, the vertical faces of the back cube  $F^{a_1}\mathfrak{F}^a C \rightsquigarrow F^{b_1}\mathfrak{F}^b C$  are commutative since they are faces of other commutative cubes. Its lower face is the central square of (3.16), which commutes. Its upper face commutes because of the uniqueness of the universal arrow (see also (3.12)). We still have to show that the complete commutation condition for the *n*th cubes is now fulfilled, that is, the composite cubes  $F^{a_1} \rightsquigarrow \mathfrak{F}^a \rightsquigarrow \mathfrak{F}^b$  and  $F^{a_1} \rightsquigarrow F^{b_1} \rightsquigarrow \mathfrak{F}^b$  in (3.17) coincide. Since the diagram (3.17) is fully commutative, this requirement is met.

We remind the reader of the following lemma [15], as it simplifies the proof of Theorem 3.5.

LEMMA 3.12. Let C be a category which is equipped with a distinguished family W of morphisms called weak equivalences, let E be any category and let  $\mathcal{F}, \mathcal{G} \in \operatorname{Fun}(C, E)$  be functors which send weak equivalences to isomorphisms. A family  $\theta_X : \mathcal{F}(X) \to \mathcal{G}(X)$  of E-maps indexed by the objects X of C is a natural transformation  $\operatorname{Ho}(\theta) : \operatorname{Ho}(\mathcal{F}) \Rightarrow \operatorname{Ho}(\mathcal{G})$ if and only if it is a natural transformation  $\theta : \mathcal{F} \Rightarrow \mathcal{G}$ .

LEMMA 3.13. Let C, D be categories with distinguished families  $W_{\rm C}, W_{\rm D}$  of morphisms and let  $F, G \in {\rm Fun}({\rm C}, {\rm D})$  be functors which preserve these weak equivalences. A natural weak equivalence  $\eta: F \xrightarrow{\simeq} G$  induces a natural isomorphism

$$\operatorname{Ho}(\eta) : \operatorname{Ho}(F) \xrightarrow{\cong} \operatorname{Ho}(G)$$
.

Proof of Lemma 3.13. If we whisker the natural transformation  $\eta$  with the localization functor  $\gamma_{\rm D}$  we get the natural transformation

$$\gamma_{\mathsf{D}} \star \eta : \gamma_{\mathsf{D}} \circ F \Rightarrow \gamma_{\mathsf{D}} \circ G,$$

all whose components  $(\gamma_{\mathsf{D}} \star \eta)_X = \gamma_{\mathsf{D}}(\eta_X)$  are isomorphisms. If we apply Lemma 3.12 to  $\mathcal{F} = \gamma_{\mathsf{D}} \circ F$ ,  $\mathcal{G} = \gamma_{\mathsf{D}} \circ G$  and the family  $(\gamma_{\mathsf{D}} \star \eta)_X$ , and if we write as usual Ho(-) instead of Ho $(\gamma_{\mathsf{D}} \circ -)$ , we get the announced result.

Proof of Theorem 3.5. If we apply Lemma 3.13 to the natural weak equivalence

 $\omega : \mathrm{id}_{\ell(M)} \xrightarrow{\sim} I$ 

of Corollary 3.10, we get a natural isomorphism

$$\operatorname{Ho}(\omega) : \operatorname{id}_{\operatorname{Ho}(\ell(\mathbb{M}))} \xrightarrow{\cong} \operatorname{Ho}(I),$$
 (3.18)

since  $\operatorname{Ho}(\operatorname{id}_{\ell(M)}) = \operatorname{id}_{\operatorname{Ho}(\ell(M))}$ .

Analogously, the natural weak equivalences

$$\varpi: \mathrm{id}_{\mathsf{M}^{\rightarrow}} \xrightarrow{\sim} R_1 \circ E \quad \mathrm{and} \quad v: E \circ R_1 \xrightarrow{\sim} I$$

of Lemma 3.11 induce natural isomorphisms

 $\operatorname{Ho}(\varpi) : \operatorname{id}_{\operatorname{Ho}(\mathbb{M}^{\to})} \stackrel{\cong}{\Longrightarrow} \operatorname{Ho}(R_1) \circ \operatorname{Ho}(E) \quad \text{and} \quad \operatorname{Ho}(\upsilon) : \operatorname{Ho}(E) \circ \operatorname{Ho}(R_1) \stackrel{\cong}{\Longrightarrow} \operatorname{Ho}(I).$  (3.19) Indeed, as  $\operatorname{Ho}(R_1 \circ E)$  is the unique endofunctor of  $\operatorname{Ho}(\mathbb{M}^{\to})$  such that

$$\operatorname{Ho}(R_1 \circ E) \circ \gamma_{\mathsf{M}} \to \gamma_{\mathsf{M}} \to \circ R_1 \circ E,$$

and as Ho(R<sub>1</sub>) (resp., Ho(E)) is the unique functor from  $Ho(\ell(M))$  to  $Ho(M^{\rightarrow})$  (resp., from  $Ho(M^{\rightarrow})$  to  $Ho(\ell(M))$ ) such that

 $\operatorname{Ho}(R_1) \circ \gamma_{\ell(\mathtt{M})} = \gamma_{\mathtt{M}^{\rightarrow}} \circ R_1 \quad (\text{resp., such that } \operatorname{Ho}(E) \circ \gamma_{\mathtt{M}^{\rightarrow}} = \gamma_{\ell(\mathtt{M})} \circ E),$ 

we have

$$\operatorname{Ho}(R_1 \circ E) = \operatorname{Ho}(R_1) \circ \operatorname{Ho}(E)$$

and similarly for  $Ho(E \circ R_1)$ .

If we combine (3.18) and (3.19) we see that

$$\operatorname{Ho}(R_1) : \operatorname{Ho}(\ell(\mathbb{M})) \rightleftharpoons \operatorname{Ho}(\mathbb{M}^{\rightarrow}) : \operatorname{Ho}(E)$$

is an equivalence of categories.

As Theorem 3.5 has now been proven, the map

$$\operatorname{Ho}(R_1)_{a_{\bullet}b_{\bullet}}:\operatorname{Hom}_{\operatorname{Ho}(\ell(\mathsf{M}))}(a_{\bullet},b_{\bullet})\to\operatorname{Hom}_{\operatorname{Ho}(\mathsf{M}^{\to})}(a_1,b_1) \quad (a_{\bullet},b_{\bullet}\in\ell(\mathsf{M}))$$

in (3.7) is a bijection. Its inverse can be described explicitly using the functor E of Lemma 3.7 and the natural weak equivalences  $\omega$  and v of Corollary 3.10 and Lemma 3.11:

PROPOSITION 3.14. Let M be a pointed model category, let  $a_{\bullet}, b_{\bullet} \in \ell(M)$ , let  $a_1 := R_1(a_{\bullet})$ ,  $b_1 := R_1(b_{\bullet})$  and let

$$\xi \in \operatorname{Hom}_{\operatorname{Ho}(\mathbb{M}^{\to})}(a_1, b_1).$$

The unique preimage

$$\Xi_{\bullet} \in \operatorname{Hom}_{\operatorname{Ho}(\ell(M))}(a_{\bullet}, b_{\bullet})$$

of  $\xi$  under the bijection  $\operatorname{Ho}(R_1)_{a_{\bullet}b_{\bullet}}$  is the composite of  $\operatorname{Ho}(\ell(M))$ -morphisms

$$a_{\bullet} \xrightarrow{\gamma(\omega_{\bullet}^{a})} \mathfrak{f}_{\bullet}^{a} \xrightarrow{\gamma(v_{\bullet}^{a})^{-1}} f_{\bullet}^{a_{1}} \xrightarrow{\mathrm{Ho}(E)(\xi)} f_{\bullet}^{b_{1}} \xrightarrow{\gamma(v_{\bullet}^{b})} \mathfrak{f}_{\bullet}^{b} \xrightarrow{\gamma(\omega_{\bullet}^{b})^{-1}} b_{\bullet}, \qquad (3.20)$$

where  $\gamma = \gamma_{\ell(M)}$ . If  $\xi$  is the class of weak equivalences and formal reversals of weak equivalences, then  $\operatorname{Ho}(E)(\xi)$  is an isomorphism and so is  $\Xi_{\bullet}$ . In this case, we refer to  $\Xi_{\bullet}$  as the canonical isomorphism in the homotopy category that extends  $\xi$ .

*Proof.* The unique preimage  $\Xi_{\bullet}$  is a class

$$\Xi_{\bullet} = \begin{bmatrix} a_{\bullet} \xrightarrow{\Psi_{\bullet}} c_{\bullet} & \stackrel{\Omega_{\bullet}^{-1}}{\longrightarrow} & d_{\bullet} \xrightarrow{\Psi'_{\bullet}} \cdots & \stackrel{\Omega'^{-1}}{\longrightarrow} & b_{\bullet} \end{bmatrix}$$

of morphisms  $\rightarrow$  of  $\ell(M)$  and formal reversals  $\rightsquigarrow$  of weak equivalences  $\stackrel{\sim}{\leftarrow}$  of  $\ell(M)$ . If we construct for each one of these  $\ell(M)$ -morphisms  $\Psi_{\bullet}, \Omega_{\bullet}, \Psi'_{\bullet}, \ldots, \Omega'_{\bullet}$  the commutative  $\ell(M)$ -squares (3.10) and (3.15) which encode the naturality of  $\omega$  and v, we get the following amalgamation of commutative  $\ell(M)$ -squares:

$$a_{\bullet} \xrightarrow{\Psi_{\bullet}} c_{\bullet} \xleftarrow{\Omega_{\bullet}} d_{\bullet} \xrightarrow{\Psi'_{\bullet}} \dots \xleftarrow{\Omega'_{\bullet}} b_{\bullet}$$

$$\omega_{\bullet}^{a} \downarrow \sim \qquad \omega_{\bullet}^{c} \downarrow \sim \qquad \omega_{\bullet}^{d} \downarrow \sim \qquad \omega_{\bullet}^{b} \downarrow \sim$$

$$f_{\bullet}^{a} \xrightarrow{I(\Psi_{\bullet})} f_{\bullet}^{c} \xleftarrow{I(\Omega_{\bullet})} f_{\bullet}^{d} \xrightarrow{I(\Psi'_{\bullet})} \dots \xleftarrow{I(\Omega'_{\bullet})} f_{\bullet}^{b}$$

$$v_{\bullet}^{a} \uparrow \sim \qquad v_{\bullet}^{c} \uparrow \sim \qquad v_{\bullet}^{d} \uparrow \sim \qquad v_{\bullet}^{b} \uparrow \sim$$

$$f_{\bullet}^{a_{1}} \xrightarrow{\overline{\mathcal{I}(\Psi_{\bullet})}} f_{\bullet}^{c_{1}} \xleftarrow{\Sigma} \overbrace{\mathcal{I}(\Omega_{\bullet})} f_{\bullet}^{d_{1}} \xrightarrow{\overline{\mathcal{I}(\Psi'_{\bullet})}} \dots \xleftarrow{\Sigma} \overbrace{\mathcal{I}(\Omega'_{\bullet})} f_{\bullet}^{b_{1}}$$
(3.21)

where  $\mathcal{I} := E \circ R_1$ . If we apply  $\gamma = \gamma_{\ell(M)}$  to (3.21), we get a commutative Ho( $\ell(M)$ )-diagram in which the images of the weak equivalences are isomorphisms. It is straightforwardly seen that the composite

$$\gamma(\Omega'_{\bullet})^{-1} \circ \cdots \circ \gamma(\Psi'_{\bullet}) \circ \gamma(\Omega_{\bullet})^{-1} \circ \gamma(\Psi_{\bullet})$$
(3.22)

of the first row is equal to the composite

$$\gamma(\omega_{\bullet}^{b})^{-1} \circ \gamma(\upsilon_{\bullet}^{b}) \circ \gamma(\mathcal{I}(\Omega_{\bullet}'))^{-1} \circ \cdots \circ \gamma(\mathcal{I}(\Psi_{\bullet}')) \circ \gamma(\mathcal{I}(\Omega_{\bullet}))^{-1} \circ \gamma(\mathcal{I}(\Psi_{\bullet})) \circ \gamma(\upsilon_{\bullet}^{a})^{-1} \circ \gamma(\omega_{\bullet}^{a})$$
(3.23)

of the first column, the last row and the last column. Since for any morphism  $\Phi_{\bullet}$  of  $\ell(M)$  we have  $\gamma(\Phi_{\bullet}) = [\Phi_{\bullet}]$ , since for any weak equivalence  $W_{\bullet}$  of  $\ell(M)$  we have  $[W_{\bullet}]^{-1} = [W_{\bullet}^{-1}]$ , and since a composite of classes is the class of the corresponding concatenation, the composite (3.22) can be written

$$[\Omega_{\bullet}']^{-1} \circ \cdots \circ [\Psi_{\bullet}'] \circ [\Omega_{\bullet}]^{-1} \circ [\Psi_{\bullet}] = [\Omega_{\bullet}'^{-1}] \circ \cdots \circ [\Psi_{\bullet}'] \circ [\Omega_{\bullet}^{-1}] \circ [\Psi_{\bullet}] = [\Psi_{\bullet}\Omega_{\bullet}^{-1}\Psi_{\bullet}'\dots\Omega_{\bullet}'^{-1}] = \Xi_{\bullet}$$
(3.24)

On the other hand, since for any morphism  $\Phi_{\bullet}$  and any weak equivalence  $W_{\bullet}$  we have

$$\operatorname{Ho}(\mathcal{I})[\Phi_{\bullet}] = \gamma(\mathcal{I}(\Phi_{\bullet})) \quad \text{and} \quad \operatorname{Ho}(\mathcal{I})[W_{\bullet}^{-1}] = \gamma(\mathcal{I}(W_{\bullet}))^{-1}$$

the partial composite in (3.23) of the factors that contain  $\mathcal{I} = E \circ R_1$  is equal to

$$\operatorname{Ho}(\mathcal{I})[\Omega_{\bullet}^{\prime-1}] \circ \cdots \circ \operatorname{Ho}(\mathcal{I})[\Psi_{\bullet}^{\prime}] \circ \operatorname{Ho}(\mathcal{I})[\Omega_{\bullet}^{-1}] \circ \operatorname{Ho}(\mathcal{I})[\Psi_{\bullet}] = \operatorname{Ho}(E)(\operatorname{Ho}(R_{1})(\Xi_{\bullet})) = \operatorname{Ho}(E)(\xi). \quad (3.25)$$

(3.20) now follows from (3.22)-(3.25).

As for the second statement in Proposition 3.14, it suffices to observe that if

$$\xi = [w\omega^{-1}w'\dots\omega'^{-1}],$$

then

$$Ho(E)(\xi) = Ho(E)[\omega'^{-1}] \circ \cdots \circ Ho(E)[w'] \circ Ho(E)[\omega^{-1}] \circ Ho(E)[w]$$
  
=  $\gamma(E(\omega'))^{-1} \circ \cdots \circ \gamma(E(w')) \circ \gamma(E(\omega))^{-1} \circ \gamma(E(w)),$ 

which is a composite of isomorphisms, as E preserves weak equivalences.

Theorem 3.5 has two more corollaries that we will apply later.

COROLLARY 3.15. Let M be a pointed model category. The localization

$$\operatorname{Ho}(R_1) : \operatorname{Ho}(h(\mathbb{M})) \to \operatorname{Ho}(\mathbb{M}^{\to})$$

of the restriction functor of homotopy fiber sequences yields an equivalence of categories between the homotopy category of the category of homotopy fiber sequences of M and the homotopy category of the category of morphisms of M.

*Proof.* This is a consequence of the proofs of Lemmas 3.7, 3.9 and 3.11 in which we stop the iterative process after the first step.  $\blacksquare$ 

COROLLARY 3.16. Let M and N be pointed model categories and let  $F \in Fun(M, N)$  be a functor which preserves weak equivalences between fibrant objects and sends the zero object  $0_M$  of M to an acyclic object  $F(0_M)$  of N. In addition, let

$$a: A_2 \xrightarrow{a_2} A_1 \xrightarrow{a_1} A_0 \quad and \quad b: B_2 \xrightarrow{b_2} B_1 \xrightarrow{b_1} B_0$$

be objectwise fibrant homotopy fiber sequences of  $\mathtt{h}(\mathtt{M})$  and assume that there exists a weak equivalence

$$w = (w_0, w_1) : a_1 \to b_1$$

in  $\mathbb{M}^{\rightarrow}$ . Then F preserves the homotopy fiber sequence  $a \in h(\mathbb{M})$ , i.e., we have  $F(a) \in h(\mathbb{N})$  if and only if it preserves the homotopy fiber sequence  $b \in h(\mathbb{M})$ , i.e., if and only if we have  $F(b) \in h(\mathbb{N})$ . If F preserves all weak equivalences, the result is true without a and b being objectwise fibrant.

*Proof.* In view of Corollary 3.15, Proposition 3.14 is also valid if we replace  $\ell(M)$  by h(M). The unique preimage  $\Xi \in \operatorname{Hom}_{Ho(h(M))}(a, b)$  of

$$\xi := \gamma_{\mathsf{M}}(w) = [w] \in \operatorname{Hom}_{\mathsf{Ho}(\mathsf{M}^{\to})}(a_1, b_1)$$

under the bijection  $Ho(R_1)_{ab}$  is

$$\Xi: a \xrightarrow{\gamma(\omega^a)} \mathfrak{f}^a \xrightarrow{\gamma(v^a)^{-1}} f^{a_1} \xrightarrow{\gamma(E(w))} f^{b_1} \xrightarrow{\gamma(v^b)} \mathfrak{f}^b \xrightarrow{\gamma(\omega^b)^{-1}} b.$$

This means that  $\Xi$  is the class of

$$a \xrightarrow{\omega^a} \mathfrak{f}^a \xrightarrow{(v^a)^{-1}} f^{a_1} \xrightarrow{E(w)} f^{b_1} \xrightarrow{v^b} \mathfrak{f}^b \xrightarrow{(\omega^b)^{-1}} b,$$

so that we have a zigzag

$$a \xrightarrow{\omega^a} \mathfrak{f}^a \xleftarrow{v^a} f^{a_1} \xrightarrow{E(w)} f^{b_1} \xrightarrow{v^b} \mathfrak{f}^b \xleftarrow{\omega^b} b \tag{3.26}$$

of weak equivalences between objectwise fibrant homotopy fiber sequences. It now suffices to show that if there is a weak equivalence  $W : d \xrightarrow{\sim} e$  between objectwise fibrant homotopy fiber sequences  $d, e \in h(\mathbb{M})$ , then  $F(d) \in h(\mathbb{N})$  if and only if  $F(e) \in h(\mathbb{N})$ . Weak equivalence of homotopy fiber sequences means of course a morphism of homotopy fiber sequences which is objectwise a weak equivalence. Hence W is a commutative M-cube which is objectwise a weak equivalence of M (see (3.27) below and omit F).

 $(\star_1)$  If we apply F to W we get a commutative N-cube which is objectwise a weak equivalence of N (see (3.27)).

From Proposition 2.9 it follows that F(d) is a model square if and only if so is F(e). Since  $C_D$  and  $F(0_M)$  are acyclic, i.e., since  $0_M \xrightarrow{\sim} C_D$  and  $0_N \xrightarrow{\sim} F(0_M)$ , we find that

$$(\star_2) \ 0_{\mathbb{N}} \xrightarrow{\sim} F(0_{\mathbb{M}}) \xrightarrow{\sim} F(C_D),$$

so that  $F(C_D)$  is acyclic. The same is true for  $F(C_E)$ . Hence F(d) is a homotopy fiber

sequence if and only if F(e) is.

Notice that we have used the assumption that the homotopy fiber sequences a and b are objectwise fibrant only in  $(\star_1)$  and  $(\star_2)$ . Hence this assumption is not necessary if F preserves all weak equivalences.

#### 4. Puppe's long homotopy fiber sequence

The results of this chapter are based on a suitable notion of loop space functor.

It is well known that the *path space* fibration of a pointed topological space  $(X, x_0)$  is the fibration

$$\pi_X : \operatorname{Path}_0 X \to X$$

whose total space

$$Path_0 X := \{ \alpha \in C^0([0,1], X) : \alpha(0) = x_0 \}$$

is the space of paths of X with starting point  $x_0$  and whose projection  $\pi_X$  maps every path  $\alpha$  to its end point  $\alpha(1)$ . The fiber Path<sub>0</sub> X ×<sub>X</sub> 0 of  $\pi_X$  over  $x_0$  is the loop space of X at  $x_0$ .

A similar concept exists in every pointed model category M. Indeed, any functorial factorization into a weak equivalence followed by a fibration



leads to an endofunctor  $Path_0 : M \to M$  and a natural transformation  $Path_0 \Rightarrow id_M$ . However, we prefer to work with a weaker notion of based path space functor  $Path_0$ :

DEFINITION 4.1. A based path space functor in a pointed model category M is an endofunctor

$$\operatorname{Path}_0: \mathbb{M} \to \mathbb{M}$$

together with a natural transformation

$$\pi: \operatorname{Path}_{0} \Rightarrow \operatorname{id}_{M}$$

whose components  $\pi_X$ : Path<sub>0</sub>  $X \to X$  at all *fibrant*  $X \in M$  are fibrations with acyclic domain Path<sub>0</sub>  $X \leftarrow 0$ .

REMARK 4.2. An important special case occurs when the pointed model category under consideration is right proper and the condition that the components of the natural transformation  $\pi$  are fibrations with acyclic domain is fulfilled for each object X, whether fibrant or not (just as when the based path space functor is induced by a functional factorization). In the following we refer to this case as the *strongly proper case*.

Let I be the category  $1 \rightarrow 2 \leftarrow 0$ . The functor category Fun(I, M) is then the category of cospans of M. To every based path space functor  $\text{Path}_0$  we can associate the functor

 $\mathcal{C}_{\mathrm{Path}_0}: \mathtt{M} \to \mathtt{Fun}(\mathtt{I}, \mathtt{M})$ 

(if there is no possibility of confusion, we simply write C) that is defined on objects  $X \in M$  by the cospan

 $\mathcal{C}X: 0 \to X \leftarrow \operatorname{Path}_0 X$ 

and on morphisms  $f: X \to Y$  of M by the commutative diagram

$\mathcal{C}X$	$0\rightarrow$	$X \leftarrow$	$\operatorname{Path}_0 X$
Cf:	$\downarrow$	$\downarrow$	$\downarrow$
$\mathcal{C}Y$	$0\rightarrow$	$Y \leftarrow$	$\operatorname{Path}_0 Y$

DEFINITION 4.3. In a pointed model category M, the *loop space functor* associated to a based path space functor  $Path_0$  is the composite

 $\Omega_{\operatorname{Path}_0} := \operatorname{Lim} \circ \mathcal{C}_{\operatorname{Path}_0} : \mathsf{M} \to \mathsf{M}$ 

(or just  $\Omega$  if no confusion is possible) of the cospan functor  $C_{\text{Path}_0} : \mathbb{M} \to \text{Fun}(\mathbb{I}, \mathbb{M})$  and the limit functor  $\text{Lim} : \text{Fun}(\mathbb{I}, \mathbb{M}) \to \mathbb{M}$ . In particular the loop space of  $X \in \mathbb{M}$  is the object

$$\Omega X = \operatorname{Path}_0 X \times_X 0 \in \mathbb{M}.$$

REMARK 4.4. From here on we work in a fixed pointed model category M, which is equipped with a fixed based path space functor  $Path_0$ , and consider the associated loop space functor  $\Omega$ .

THEOREM 4.5. The loop space functor preserves all fibrant objects, the weak equivalences between fibrant objects and the objectwise fibrant homotopy fiber sequences. In the strongly proper case, the loop space of every object is fibrant and the loop space functor preserves all weak equivalences and all homotopy fiber sequences.

*Proof.* We start with a few observations. In this proof we have  $0 \xrightarrow{\sim} \operatorname{Path}_0 X \twoheadrightarrow X$  for every object  $X \in M$  that we consider, since either this object is fibrant or we work in the

strongly proper case. For every M-morphism  $f: X \to Y$ , we get a commutative diagram



It contains three types of commutative squares, which will appear several times below. We refer to squares similar to the commutative right lower square as squares of type P, to squares similar to the commutative front square as squares of type L, and to squares similar to the commutative upper square as squares of type U. In every type P square the arrow between the path spaces is a weak equivalence. Further, it follows from Corollary 2.6 that every type L square is a model square. Finally, in every type U square that is induced by a weak equivalence f, the universal arrow is a weak equivalence because of Theorems 2.4 and 2.5.

From the last observation and the closedness of fibrations under pullbacks it follows that the statements about weak equivalences and fibrant objects in Theorem 4.5 are true.

Let now  $A \xrightarrow{f} \mathcal{A} \xrightarrow{g} \mathfrak{A}$  be a homotopy fiber sequence. If we are not in the strongly proper case, we assume that it is objectwise fibrant. If we factor g into a weak equivalence followed by a fibration, we get the following commutative diagram:



From Corollary 2.6 it follows that the front square is a homotopy fiber sequence. Since  $\Omega$  is an endofunctor that preserves weak equivalences between fibrant objects or, in the strongly proper case, all weak equivalences, and since  $\Omega(0) = \text{Path}_0(0)$  is acyclic, we can apply Corollary 3.16 to the images under  $\Omega$  of the homotopy fiber sequences  $a : A \to \mathcal{A} \to \mathfrak{A}$  and  $k : K \to \overline{\mathcal{A}} \to \mathfrak{A}$ ; to show that  $\Omega(a)$  is a homotopy fiber sequence, it suffices to prove that  $\Omega(k)$  ( $\Omega$  applied to the front square of (4.2)) is a homotopy fiber sequence.

Because of Proposition 2.9, it is even enough to build a model square that is weakly equivalent to the commutative square  $\Omega(k)$ . We get this model square by constructing the following commutative diagram step by step. The diagram has an upper, a lower, a left, a right, a front, a back and two middle parts, the parallel (to the front) middle part and the

orthogonal one. In the following description, the first adjective refers always to the part and the second to the square we are looking at in that part. For instance, the right front square is the front square of the right part, i.e., the square  $\operatorname{Path}_0 \overline{\mathcal{A}}\overline{\mathcal{A}}\operatorname{Path}_0 \mathfrak{A}\mathfrak{A}$ , whereas the front right square is the right square of the front part, i.e., the square  $K\overline{\mathcal{A}}\mathfrak{O}\mathfrak{A}$ .



We start from the front right square (which is the front homotopy fiber sequence of (4.2)). The right front square is a type P square. Let now  $\mathcal{K}$  be the kernel of the morphism  $\operatorname{Path}_0 \bar{\mathcal{A}} \twoheadrightarrow \bar{\mathcal{A}} \twoheadrightarrow \mathfrak{A}$ . Corollary 2.6 implies that the resulting square (the 'diagonal' square) is a homotopy fiber sequence. The universal arrow  $\mathcal{K} \dashrightarrow \mathcal{K}$  makes the upper right square and the middle upper triangle commutative. The pasting law for model squares now implies that the upper right square is a model square. The lower right square is a type L square. The universal arrow  $\mathcal{K} \dashrightarrow \mathfrak{Q}\mathfrak{A}$  renders the middle lower triangle, the middle front square and the middle right square commutative, so that the right cube is fully commutative. Moreover, Theorems 2.4 and 2.5 imply that this universal arrow is a weak equivalence.

We now describe the front left cube. Its front, left and lower squares obviously commute (and so does its right square). The total upper front square is a type L square and therefore a model square. Since  $\mathcal{K}$  is a kernel, the universal arrow  $\Omega \overline{\mathcal{A}} \longrightarrow \mathcal{K}$  makes the parallel bent triangle commutative. As K is a kernel, the upper front left square commutes and because of the pasting law it is a model square. The parallel middle part of (4.3) is a type U square. As  $\Omega \mathfrak{A}$  is a pullback, the middle left square commutes.

It remains to explain the back cube and the back 3D wedge. We start looking at the union of this cube and wedge. The lower (left) square is the commutative square  $\Omega(k)$  and the lower triangle can be viewed as a type U square. The left square obviously commutes and the right square is the image under Path<sub>0</sub> of a commutative square and is therefore itself commutative. The back square can be interpreted as a type U square and the total upper square is also a type U square. To understand the middle square (the back square of the orthogonal middle part) and the resulting subdivision of the union, we have to look again at the overall diagram (4.3). As  $\mathcal{K}$  is a kernel, there is a universal arrow Path<sub>0</sub>  $\mathcal{K} \longrightarrow \mathcal{K}$  that makes the upper triangle commutative. The total upper left square is a type L and a model square and since  $\mathcal{K}$  is a kernel, the upper back square commutes and is, in view of the pasting law, a model square. It suffices now to show that this model square is weakly equivalent to  $\Omega(k)$ . We know already that  $\operatorname{Path}_0 K \to \operatorname{Path}_0 0$  and  $\mathcal{K} \dashrightarrow \Omega \mathfrak{A}$  are weak equivalences and that the lower back square commutes. Hence all we have to do is to prove that the middle back square is commutative. However, this is the case as  $\Omega \mathfrak{A}$  is a pullback.

Let us recall that if  $f: X \to Y$  is a base point preserving continuous map between pointed topological spaces  $(X, x_0)$  and  $(Y, y_0)$ , its homotopy fiber or homotopy kernel

$$K_f := \operatorname{Path}_0 Y \times_Y X = \{(\alpha, x) \in \operatorname{Path}_0 Y \times X : \alpha(1) = f(x)\}$$
$$= \{(\alpha, x) \in C^0([0, 1], Y) \times X : \alpha(0) = y_0, \alpha(1) = f(x)\}$$

fits into the 'homotopy fiber sequence'  $K_f \to X \to Y$ . The latter can be extended to a long sequence. More precisely, the loop space

$$\Omega Y := \{ \alpha \in C^0([0,1], Y) : \alpha(0) = \alpha(1) = y_0 = f(x_0) \}$$

injects into the homotopy fiber  $K_f$  thus providing a connecting morphism  $\delta : \Omega Y \to K_f$ . The extending long sequence mentioned is then the sequence

$$\cdots \to \Omega^2 Y \to \Omega(K_f) \to \Omega X \to \Omega Y \to K_f \to X \to Y$$

which is referred to as *Puppe's sequence*.

We will generalize Puppe's sequence to our context. We start with the following definition (see also Remark 4.4):

DEFINITION 4.6. Let  $f: X \to Y$  be an M-morphism between *fibrant objects*. We refer to the pullback

$$K_f := \operatorname{Path}_0 Y \times_Y X$$

as the homotopy kernel of f, to the universal arrow

$$\delta_f: \Omega Y \dashrightarrow K_f$$

as the *connecting morphism* associated to f,



and to the sequence

as

$$\mathcal{P}_f: \dots \longrightarrow \Omega^2 Y \xrightarrow{\Omega(\delta_f)} \Omega(K_f) \xrightarrow{\Omega(\pi_f)} \Omega X \xrightarrow{\Omega f} \Omega Y \xrightarrow{\delta_f} K_f \xrightarrow{\pi_f} X \xrightarrow{f} Y$$
(4.5)  
Puppe's sequence of f.

Definition 4.6 makes also sense if X and Y are not fibrant. However, if they are, the homotopy fiber or homotopy kernel  $K_f$  of f is a fibrant object and it is in view of Theorem 2.3 a canonical representative of the homotopy pullback  $0 \times_Y^h X$ . This justifies the assumption that X and Y are fibrant. In the strongly proper case, the homotopy fiber  $K_f$  of f is isomorphic in the homotopy category to the homotopy fiber HFib(f) of f of [21]. Therefore we use the terminology of Definition 4.6 also in the strongly proper case.

PROPOSITION 4.7. Let  $M_{f}^{\rightarrow}$  be the full subcategory of  $M^{\rightarrow}$  consisting of all the morphisms between fibrant objects of M and let  $M_{\dagger}^{\rightarrow}$  be the category  $M_{f}^{\rightarrow}$ , except in the strongly proper case where it is the full category  $M^{\rightarrow}$ . There is an extension functor

$$\mathcal{P}: \mathbb{M}_{\dagger}^{\to} \ni f \mapsto \mathcal{P}_f \in \ell(\mathbb{M}),$$

whose values  $\mathcal{P}_f$  on objects  $f \in \mathbb{M}_f^{\rightarrow}$  are objectwise fibrant long homotopy fiber sequences and to which we refer as Puppe's extension functor.

*Proof.* Let  $f \in M_t^{\rightarrow}$  be an M-morphism with source X and target Y.

We will describe the following commutative diagram using the terminology introduced at the beginning of the proof of Theorem 4.5.

The three lower squares of (4.6) are just the commutative cube of (4.4) in Definition 4.6. The *lower right square* is a model square and even a homotopy fiber sequence because of Corollary 2.6 and the total lower square is a type L square and therefore also a model square. From the pasting law for model squares it now follows that the *lower left square* is a homotopy fiber sequence. The total left square is also a model square as it is of the type L. The total upper square is of the type U and the total right square is of the type P. The arrow Path<sub>0</sub>  $X \longrightarrow K_f$  is the universal morphism and makes the upper right square and the vertical middle bent triangle commutative. The upper left square commutes because of the uniqueness of the universal morphism from  $\Omega X$  to  $K_f$ . Finally the pasting law implies that the *upper left square* is a homotopy fiber sequence.

Since  $\Omega$  preserves objectwise fibrant homotopy fiber sequences and even all homotopy fiber sequences if we work in a strongly proper environment, the images

$$\Omega(K_f) \to \Omega X \to \Omega Y, \quad \Omega^2 Y \to \Omega(K_f) \to \Omega X, \quad \Omega^2 X \to \Omega^2 Y \to \Omega(K_f), \quad \dots$$

are all homotopy fiber sequences that are objectwise fibrant if  $f\in \mathtt{M}_{\mathrm{f}}^{\rightarrow}.$ 

Let now  $f, g \in \mathbb{M}_{\uparrow}^{\rightarrow}$  be M-morphisms with source X, U and target Y, V, respectively, and let  $\psi = (\psi_0, \psi_1) : f \to g$  be an  $\mathbb{M}^{\rightarrow}$ -morphism between them. The next diagram, in which dashed arrows represent universal morphisms as usual, defines  $\mathcal{P}_{\psi} : \mathcal{P}_f \to \mathcal{P}_g$  and shows that  $\mathcal{P}_{\psi}$  is an  $\ell(M)$ -morphism, i.e., a sequence of commutative cubes.



To convince ourselves of this claim, we can first note that all arrows from the back part of diagram (4.7) to the front part are easy to understand. The commutation of the three cubes of (4.7) is obvious because of the uniqueness of universal arrows. As  $\Omega$  is a functor, we get the desired sequence of commutative cubes. Moreover, the assignment  $\mathcal{P}: \psi \mapsto \mathcal{P}_{\psi}$ clearly respects compositions and identities, which completes the proof.

PROPOSITION 4.8. The extension  $\mathcal{P}_f \in \ell(\mathbb{M})$  of a morphism  $f \in \mathbb{M}_{\dagger}^{\rightarrow}$  to a long homotopy fiber sequence is unique up to a canonical isomorphism of  $Ho(\ell(\mathbb{M}))$ , i.e., a zigzag of weak equivalences of  $\ell(\mathbb{M})$ .

*Proof.* The statement is a consequence of Proposition 3.14. Indeed, if  $b_{\bullet} \in \ell(M)$  is an extension of f other than  $a_{\bullet} := \mathcal{P}_f \in \ell(M)$ , there is a canonical isomorphism in the homotopy category of  $\ell(M)$  between  $a_{\bullet}$  and  $b_{\bullet}$  that extends the class  $\xi := [\mathrm{id} : f \to f]$ .

In algebraic topology the long exact sequence of homotopy groups of a fibration is a consequence of Puppe's sequence of the fibration: to get the long exact sequence it suffices to apply to Puppe's sequence the covariant Hom functor in the homotopy category associated to the 0-sphere. A similar result exists in our context of a pointed model category M equipped with a based path space functor Path<sub>0</sub> and the corresponding loop space functor  $\Omega$ . More precisely, if

$$[A, -] := \operatorname{Hom}_{\operatorname{Ho}(M)}(A, -)$$

is the covariant Hom functor in the homotopy category associated to an object  $A \in M$ and if  $\gamma$  is the localization functor of the category M, we have the following

**PROPOSITION 4.9.** Let  $f \in \mathbb{M}_{+}^{\rightarrow}$  and let  $A \in \mathbb{M}$ . The sequence

$$\cdots \longrightarrow [A, \Omega^2 Y] \xrightarrow{[A, \gamma(\Omega(\delta_f))]} [A, \Omega(K_f)] \xrightarrow{[A, \gamma(\Omega(\pi_f))]} [A, \Omega X] \xrightarrow{[A, \gamma(\Omega f)]}$$
$$[A, \Omega Y] \xrightarrow{[A, \gamma(\delta_f)]} [A, K_f] \xrightarrow{[A, \gamma(\pi_f)]} [A, X] \xrightarrow{[A, \gamma f]} [A, Y]$$
(4.8)

is a long exact sequence of  $\operatorname{Hom}_{\operatorname{Ho}(M)}$ -sets.

We will show later that when we apply this result to chain complexes of modules, we get the usual long exact sequence of homology modules (since our theory is an abstraction of aspects of pointed topological spaces, it is not surprising that in this case we obtain the usual long exact sequence of homotopy groups). Further we will explain what an exact sequence of  $\operatorname{Hom}_{\operatorname{Ho}(M)}$ -sets is after giving the next proposition of which Proposition 4.9 is obviously a corollary.

THEOREM 4.10. Let  $X \xrightarrow{f} \mathcal{X} \xrightarrow{g} \mathfrak{X}$  be a homotopy fiber sequence in M and let A be an object of M. Then the sequence

$$[A, X] \xrightarrow{[A, \gamma f]} [A, \mathcal{X}] \xrightarrow{[A, \gamma g]} [A, \mathfrak{X}] \tag{4.9}$$

is an exact sequence of  $\operatorname{Hom}_{\operatorname{Ho}(M)}$ -sets.

Now as to the meaning of exactness, let  $f: X \to \mathcal{X}$  be an M-morphism and let A be an object of M. Then  $\gamma f: X \to \mathcal{X}$  is the Ho(M)-morphism

$$\gamma f = [\tilde{F}\tilde{C}f]_{\simeq} \in [X,\mathcal{X}],$$

where  $\tilde{F}$  is a local fibrant C-replacement,  $\tilde{C}$  is a local cofibrant F-replacement and  $[-]_{\simeq}$  denotes the homotopy class. Further,  $[A, \gamma f] : [A, X] \to [A, \mathcal{X}]$  is the set-theoretical morphism

$$[A,\gamma f] = [\tilde{F}\tilde{C}f]_{\simeq} \circ -.$$

We define  $\operatorname{im}[A, \gamma f]$  as the set of images and  $\operatorname{ker}[A, \gamma f]$  as the set of elements that are sent to  $0_{[A,\mathcal{X}]}$ , where  $0_{[A,\mathcal{X}]}$  is the image under  $\gamma$  of the zero morphism  $0_{A\mathcal{X}} : A \xrightarrow{t_A} 0 \xrightarrow{i_{\mathcal{X}}} \mathcal{X}$ :

$$\begin{aligned} 0_{[A,\mathcal{X}]} &= \gamma(0_{A\mathcal{X}}) = \gamma(i_{\mathcal{X}}) \circ \gamma(t_{A}) = [0 \xrightarrow{FCi_{\mathcal{X}}} \tilde{F}\tilde{C}\mathcal{X}]_{\simeq} \circ [\tilde{F}\tilde{C}A \xrightarrow{FCt_{A}} 0]_{\simeq} \\ &= [\tilde{F}\tilde{C}A \to 0 \to \tilde{F}\tilde{C}\mathcal{X}]_{\simeq}. \end{aligned}$$

The fact that the sequence (4.9) is exact now means that

$$\operatorname{im}[A, \gamma f] = \operatorname{ker}[A, \gamma g].$$

*Proof.* Let  $\tilde{F}\mathcal{X} \xrightarrow{\sim} \bar{F}\mathcal{X} \twoheadrightarrow \tilde{F}\mathfrak{X}$  be a factorization of a lifting  $\tilde{F}g : \tilde{F}\mathcal{X} \to \tilde{F}\mathfrak{X}$  into a weak equivalence followed by a fibration and let  $K \to \bar{F}\mathcal{X} \twoheadrightarrow \tilde{F}\mathfrak{X}$  be the kernel of this fibration. Since  $K = \bar{F}\mathcal{X} \times_{\tilde{F}\mathfrak{X}} 0$ , we have two homotopy fiber sequences

$$\begin{array}{cccc} x: & X \xrightarrow{f} \mathcal{X} \xrightarrow{g} \mathfrak{X} \\ & \downarrow^{\sim} & \downarrow^{\sim} \\ k: & K \xrightarrow{\kappa} \bar{F} \mathcal{X} \xrightarrow{h} \tilde{F} \mathfrak{X} \end{array}$$
(4.10)

whose restrictions  $x_1$  and  $k_1$  are related by a weak equivalence  $w = (w_0, w_1)$  in  $\mathbb{M}^{\rightarrow}$  and an isomorphism  $\xi := \gamma_{\mathbb{M}^{\rightarrow}}(w)$  in  $\operatorname{Ho}(\mathbb{M}^{\rightarrow})$ . For later use, we note that all of the nodes in the lower sequence are fibrant.

In view of Proposition 3.14, the homotopy fiber sequences x and k are related by a zigzag (3.26) of weak equivalences of homotopy fiber sequences, i.e., by a zigzag of commutative cubes that are objectwise weak equivalences (hence the corresponding vertices of x and k are all related by a zigzag of weak equivalences of M). If we apply  $\gamma$  and [A, -] to these cubes, we get in particular the following commutative squares in the category

Set of sets

$$\begin{array}{cccc} [A,X] & \xrightarrow{[A,\gamma f]} & [A,\mathcal{X}] & \xrightarrow{[A,\gamma g]} & [A,\mathfrak{X}] \\ & & \downarrow b_1 & \downarrow b_2 & \downarrow b_3 \\ [A,K] & \xrightarrow{[A,\gamma\kappa]} & [A,\bar{F}\mathcal{X}] & \xrightarrow{[A,\gamma h]} & [A,\tilde{F}\mathfrak{X}] \end{array}$$
(4.11)

whose vertical arrows are bijections. More precisely, as said above, the corresponding vertices X and K, for example, are related by a zigzag of weak equivalences  $\xrightarrow{\omega}$  and weak equivalences  $\xleftarrow{\omega}$ . When we apply  $\gamma$  we get a zigzag of isomorphisms

$$\gamma(\stackrel{\omega}{\leftarrow}) = [\tilde{F}\tilde{C}\stackrel{\omega}{\leftarrow}]_{\simeq} \text{ and } \gamma(\stackrel{\varpi}{\leftarrow}) = [\tilde{F}\tilde{C}\stackrel{\varpi}{\leftarrow}]_{\simeq}$$

so that the composite  $i_1$  of

$$[\tilde{F}\tilde{C} \xrightarrow{\omega}]_{\simeq}$$
 and  $[\tilde{F}\tilde{C} \xleftarrow{\varpi}]_{\simeq}^{-1}$ 

is an isomorphism in Ho(M) from X to K. The bijection  $b_1$  is now  $b_1 = [A, i_1]$ . As a map between fibrant-cofibrant objects is a weak equivalence if and only if it is a homotopy equivalence, the  $\tilde{F}\tilde{C} \xleftarrow{\boxtimes}$  are invertible up to homotopy by weak equivalences  $\xleftarrow{W}$  and

$$[\tilde{F}\tilde{C}\xleftarrow{\varpi}]^{-1}_{\simeq} = [\xrightarrow{W}]_{\simeq}.$$

Therefore  $i_1$  is a composite of homotopy classes of weak equivalences, so it is the homotopy class of a weak equivalence:

$$i_1 = [\tilde{F}\tilde{C}X \xrightarrow{\sim} \tilde{F}\tilde{C}K]_{\simeq}.$$

It follows that

given by

$$b_1 0_{[A,X]} = [\tilde{F}\tilde{C}X \xrightarrow{\sim} \tilde{F}\tilde{C}K]_{\simeq} \circ [\tilde{F}\tilde{C}A \to 0 \to \tilde{F}\tilde{C}X]_{\simeq} = [\tilde{F}\tilde{C}A \to 0 \to \tilde{F}\tilde{C}K]_{\simeq} = 0_{[A,K]},$$
  
i.e., that the bijections  $b_1, b_2$  and  $b_3$  preserve the zero elements.

Moreover, for every object  $A \in M$ , there is a cofibrant object  $A \in M_c$  and a weak equivalence  $\omega : A \xrightarrow{\sim} A$  of M. If we apply  $\gamma$  we get an isomorphism  $i : A \xrightarrow{\cong} A$  of Ho(M)

$$i = \gamma \omega = [\tilde{F} \tilde{C} \omega]_{\simeq} = [\tilde{F} \tilde{C} \mathcal{A} \xrightarrow{\sim} \tilde{F} \tilde{C} A]_{\simeq},$$

and for every object  $B \in M$  we get a bijection

$$b_B := [i, B] = - \circ i : [A, B] \xrightarrow{\cong} [\mathcal{A}, B]$$

that sends  $0_{[A,B]}$  to

$$b_B 0_{[A,B]} = [\tilde{F}\tilde{C}A \to 0 \to \tilde{F}\tilde{C}B]_{\simeq} \circ [\tilde{F}\tilde{C}\mathcal{A} \xrightarrow{\sim} \tilde{F}\tilde{C}A]_{\simeq} = 0_{[\mathcal{A},B]}.$$

Hence we have the following commutative Set-squares

$$\begin{bmatrix} A, K \end{bmatrix} \xrightarrow{[A, \gamma\kappa]} \begin{bmatrix} A, \bar{F}\mathcal{X} \end{bmatrix} \xrightarrow{[A, \gammah]} \begin{bmatrix} A, \tilde{F}\mathfrak{X} \end{bmatrix}$$

$$\downarrow b_{K} \qquad \qquad \downarrow b_{\bar{F}\mathcal{X}} \qquad \qquad \downarrow b_{\bar{F}\mathcal{X}} \qquad \qquad \downarrow b_{\bar{F}\mathcal{X}}$$

$$\begin{bmatrix} \mathcal{A}, K \end{bmatrix} \xrightarrow{[\mathcal{A}, \gamma\kappa]} \begin{bmatrix} \mathcal{A}, \bar{F}\mathcal{X} \end{bmatrix} \xrightarrow{[\mathcal{A}, \gammah]} \begin{bmatrix} \mathcal{A}, \tilde{F}\mathfrak{X} \end{bmatrix}$$

$$(4.12)$$

As for the commutativity of these squares, note that if for instance  $[\psi]_{\simeq} \in [A, K]$ , then

$$[\mathcal{A},\gamma\kappa](b_K[\psi]_{\simeq}) = \gamma\kappa\circ([\psi]_{\simeq}\circ i) = (\gamma\kappa\circ[\psi]_{\simeq})\circ i = b_{\bar{F}\mathcal{X}}([\mathcal{A},\gamma\kappa][\psi]_{\simeq}).$$

If we combine (4.11) and (4.12), we get commutative squares

$$\begin{bmatrix} A, X \end{bmatrix} \xrightarrow{[A, \gamma f]} \begin{bmatrix} A, \mathcal{X} \end{bmatrix} \xrightarrow{[A, \gamma g]} \begin{bmatrix} A, \chi g \end{bmatrix}$$

$$\downarrow^{\flat_1} \qquad \qquad \downarrow^{\flat_2} \qquad \qquad \downarrow^{\flat_3} \qquad (4.13)$$

$$\begin{bmatrix} \mathcal{A}, K \end{bmatrix} \xrightarrow{[\mathcal{A}, \gamma \kappa]} \begin{bmatrix} \mathcal{A}, \bar{F} \mathcal{X} \end{bmatrix} \xrightarrow{[\mathcal{A}, \gamma h]} \begin{bmatrix} \mathcal{A}, \bar{F} \mathfrak{X} \end{bmatrix}$$

whose vertical arrows are bijections which respect the zero elements of their source and target  $\operatorname{Hom}_{\operatorname{Ho}(M)}$ -sets. It is straightforward to check that the exactness of the upper sequence of (4.13) is equivalent to the exactness of the lower sequence. For instance, if

$$\operatorname{im}[\mathcal{A}, \gamma \kappa] \subset \ker[\mathcal{A}, \gamma h]$$

and if  $[\phi]_{\simeq} \in [A, X]$ , we have

$$[A,\gamma g]([A,\gamma f][\phi]_{\simeq}) = \flat_3^{-1} \left( [\mathcal{A},\gamma h] \left( [\mathcal{A},\gamma \kappa] (\flat_1[\phi]_{\simeq}) \right) \right) = \flat_3^{-1} 0_{[\mathcal{A},\tilde{F}\mathfrak{X}]} = 0_{[A,\mathfrak{X}]}.$$

Hence, it suffices to show that the lower sequence is exact.

Since  $\mathcal{A} \in M_c$  and  $K, \bar{F}\mathcal{X}, \tilde{F}\mathfrak{X} \in M_f$ , the description of the Hom<sub>Ho(M)</sub>-sets in the lower sequence of (4.13) can be simplified. Indeed, the map

$$\gamma : \operatorname{Hom}_{\mathbb{M}}(\mathcal{A}, K) \ni \mathfrak{f} \mapsto \gamma \mathfrak{f} \in [\mathcal{A}, K]$$

is surjective and induces a 1:1 correspondence

$$\tilde{\gamma} : \operatorname{Hom}_{\mathbb{M}}(\mathcal{A}, K)/\simeq \ni [\mathfrak{f}]_{\simeq} \mapsto \gamma \mathfrak{f} \in [\mathcal{A}, K],$$

$$(4.14)$$

so that

$$\gamma \mathfrak{f} = [\mathfrak{f}]_{\simeq} \tag{4.15}$$

if we identify the homotopy classes with the morphisms in the homotopy category [12, Proposition 5.11].

Hence every element of  $\operatorname{im}[\mathcal{A}, \gamma \kappa]$  reads  $[\mathcal{A}, \gamma \kappa](\gamma \mathfrak{f})$ , and since

$$[\mathcal{A},\gamma h]\big([\mathcal{A},\gamma\kappa](\gamma\mathfrak{f})\big)=\gamma(h\circ\kappa\circ\mathfrak{f})=\gamma(0_{K,\tilde{F}\mathfrak{X}}\circ\mathfrak{f})=\gamma(0_{\mathcal{A},\tilde{F}\mathfrak{X}})=0_{[\mathcal{A},\tilde{F}\mathfrak{X}]},$$

we have

$$\operatorname{im}[\mathcal{A}, \gamma \kappa] \subset \operatorname{ker}[\mathcal{A}, \gamma h].$$

Conversely, if  $\gamma \mathfrak{g} = [\mathfrak{g}]_{\simeq} \in [\mathcal{A}, \bar{F}\mathcal{X}]$  is an element of ker $[\mathcal{A}, \gamma h]$ , we have

$$[\mathcal{A},\gamma h](\gamma\mathfrak{g})=\gamma(h\circ\mathfrak{g})=[h\circ\mathfrak{g}]_{\simeq}=0_{[\mathcal{A},\tilde{F}\mathfrak{X}]}=\gamma(0_{\mathcal{A},\tilde{F}\mathfrak{X}})=[0_{\mathcal{A},\tilde{F}\mathfrak{X}}]_{\simeq},$$

so that  $h \circ \mathfrak{g}$  and  $0 := 0_{\mathcal{A}, \tilde{F}\mathfrak{X}}$  are left homotopic, i.e.,  $(h \circ \mathfrak{g}) \amalg 0 : \mathcal{A} \amalg \mathcal{A} \to \tilde{F}\mathfrak{X}$  factors through a cylinder object Cyl $\mathcal{A}$  of  $\mathcal{A}$ . The cylinder object is a factorization

$$\mathcal{A} \xrightarrow{\phi_1,\phi_2} \mathcal{A} \amalg \mathcal{A} \xrightarrow{i} \operatorname{Cyl} \mathcal{A} \xrightarrow{\approx} \mathcal{A}$$

of the fold map  $\operatorname{id}_{\mathcal{A}} \amalg \operatorname{id}_{\mathcal{A}} : \mathcal{A} \amalg \mathcal{A} \to \mathcal{A}$  into a cofibration *i* and a weak equivalence *w*, which means that

$$w \circ i_1 := w \circ i \circ \phi_1 = \mathrm{id}_{\mathcal{A}}$$
 and  $w \circ i_2 := w \circ i \circ \phi_2 = \mathrm{id}_{\mathcal{A}}$ .

As  $\mathcal{A}$  is cofibrant and cofibrations are closed under pushouts, the morphisms  $\phi_1$  and  $\phi_2$ are cofibrations and so are the morphisms  $i_1$  and  $i_2$ , which are obviously also weak equivalences. The factorization of  $(h \circ \mathfrak{g}) \amalg 0$  mentioned above now means that there is a morphism  $H : \operatorname{Cyl} \mathcal{A} \to \tilde{F} \mathfrak{X}$  such that  $H \circ i_1 = h \circ \mathfrak{g}$  and  $H \circ i_2 = 0$ , so that we have the commutative squares

$$\begin{array}{cccc} \mathcal{A} & & \stackrel{i_1}{\longrightarrow} & \operatorname{Cyl} \mathcal{A} & \stackrel{i_2}{\longleftarrow} & \mathcal{A} \\ & & & \downarrow^{\mathfrak{g}} & & \downarrow^{H} & & \downarrow \\ & & & & & & \\ \bar{F}\mathcal{X} & \stackrel{h}{\longrightarrow} & \tilde{F}\mathfrak{X} & \longleftarrow & 0 \end{array}$$
(4.16)

The dashed arrow  $\ell$  exists in view of the lifting axiom. Since  $h \circ \ell \circ i_2 = 0$ , the morphism  $\ell \circ i_2$  factors through the kernel  $(K, \kappa)$  of h, which means that there is a morphism  $\mathfrak{f} : \mathcal{A} \to K$  such that  $\ell \circ i_2 = \kappa \circ \mathfrak{f}$ . Hence we have the commutative diagram

$$\begin{array}{ccc} \mathcal{A} \xrightarrow{i_1} & \operatorname{Cyl} \mathcal{A} \xleftarrow{i_2} & \mathcal{A} \\ & & & \downarrow^{\mathfrak{g}} & & \downarrow^{\ell} & & \downarrow^{\mathfrak{f}} \\ & & & \bar{F}\mathcal{X} & = & \bar{F}\mathcal{X} \xleftarrow{\kappa} & K \end{array}$$
(4.17)

This means that  $\ell$  is a homotopy between  $\mathfrak{g}$  and  $\kappa \circ \mathfrak{f}$ :

$$\gamma \mathfrak{g} = [\mathfrak{g}]_{\simeq} = [\kappa \circ \mathfrak{f}]_{\simeq} = \gamma \kappa \circ \gamma \mathfrak{f} = [\mathcal{A}, \gamma \kappa](\gamma \mathfrak{f}),$$

i.e.,

$$\ker[\mathcal{A},\gamma h] \subset \operatorname{im}[\mathcal{A},\gamma \kappa]. \quad \blacksquare$$

We denote by  $\mathbf{h}(\mathbf{M}_{\mathrm{f}})$  the full subcategory of  $\mathbf{h}(\mathbf{M})$  made up of the objectwise fibrant homotopy fiber sequences of M. The category  $\mathbf{h}(\mathbf{M}_{\dagger})$  is the category  $\mathbf{h}(\mathbf{M}_{\mathrm{f}})$  except in the strongly proper case where it is the category  $\mathbf{h}(\mathbf{M})$ . Proposition 4.9 shows that we can associate a long exact sequence to every  $g \in \mathbf{M}_{\dagger}^{\rightarrow}$ , i.e., to every  $k \in \mathbf{h}(\mathbf{M}_{\dagger})$  of the type  $k : K_g \xrightarrow{\pi_g} \mathcal{X} \xrightarrow{g} \mathfrak{X}$ . It is also possible to associate a long exact sequence to an arbitrary  $x \in \mathbf{h}(\mathbf{M}_{\dagger})$ :

PROPOSITION 4.11. Let  $x: X \xrightarrow{f} \mathcal{X} \xrightarrow{g} \mathfrak{X}$  be a homotopy fiber sequence  $x \in h(M_{\dagger})$  and let  $A \in M$ . Then there is a connecting morphism  $\Delta \in [\Omega \mathfrak{X}, X]$  such that

$$\cdots \longrightarrow [A, \Omega^{2}\mathfrak{X}] \xrightarrow{[A, \mathbb{R}\Omega(\Delta)]} [A, \Omega X] \xrightarrow{[A, \gamma(\Omega f)]} [A, \Omega \mathcal{X}] \xrightarrow{[A, \gamma(\Omega g)]} (4.18)$$

$$[A, \Omega \mathfrak{X}] \xrightarrow{[A, \Delta]} [A, X] \xrightarrow{[A, \gamma f]} [A, \mathcal{X}] \xrightarrow{[A, \gamma g]} [A, \mathfrak{X}]$$
(4.19)

is a long exact sequence of  $\operatorname{Hom}_{\operatorname{Ho}(M)}$ -sets.

REMARK 4.12. If we do not work in a strongly proper environment and  $x \in h(M)$  is not necessarily objectwise fibrant, we can apply a fibrant replacement functor R to x and associate a long exact sequence to  $Rx \in h(M_f)$  (see Proposition 2.9). Proof of Proposition 4.11. Since  $x \in h(M)$  induces the above  $k \in h(M)$  and the restrictions  $k_1 = x_1 = g \in M^{\rightarrow}$  are related by the isomorphism

$$\xi := \mathrm{id}_{\mathrm{Ho}(\mathrm{M}^{\to})}g = \Gamma(\mathrm{id}_{\mathrm{M}^{\to}} g) = \Gamma(\mathrm{id}_{\mathrm{M}} \,\mathcal{X}, \mathrm{id}_{\mathrm{M}} \,\mathfrak{X}) \in \mathrm{Hom}_{\mathrm{Ho}(\mathrm{M}^{\to})}(k_1, x_1),$$

where  $\Gamma := \gamma_{\mathbb{M}}$ , Proposition 3.14 implies that there is a canonical isomorphism  $\Xi \in \operatorname{Hom}_{\operatorname{Ho}(h(\mathbb{M}))}(k, x)$  that extends  $\xi$ , and (3.26) gives the  $h(\mathbb{M})$ -zigzag

$$k \xrightarrow{\omega^k} \mathsf{f}^k \xleftarrow{v^k} f^g \xrightarrow{E(\mathrm{id})} f^g \xrightarrow{\omega^x} \mathsf{f}^x \xleftarrow{\omega^x} x$$

whose class is equal to  $\Xi$ . All arrows of this zigzag are commutative cubes in M that are objectwise weak equivalences of M. In particular we have the following commutative M-squares:



If we apply the functor  $\gamma = \gamma_{M}$  to them, we get commutative Ho(M)-squares in which the weak equivalences have been transformed into isomorphisms of Ho(M). By inverting the upward isomorphisms, we obtain the commutative Ho(M)-diagram

in which the last two isomorphisms are equalities. Indeed, as

$$\Xi = F(\omega^x)^{-1} \circ F(\upsilon^x) \circ F(\upsilon^k)^{-1} \circ F(\omega^k),$$

where  $F = \gamma_{h(M)}$ , we have

$$\Gamma(\operatorname{id}_{\mathsf{M}}\mathcal{X}, \operatorname{id}_{\mathsf{M}}\mathfrak{X}) = \xi = \operatorname{Ho}(R_1)(\Xi)$$
  
= Ho(R\_1)(\varF(\omega^x)^{-1}) \circ Ho(R\_1)(\varF(\overline{v}^x)) \circ Ho(R\_1)(\varF(\overline{v}^k)^{-1}) \circ Ho(R\_1)(\varF(\omega^k)))  
= (\(\Gamma(R\_1\overline{\overline{w}}))^{-1} \circ \Gamma(R\_1\overline{\overline{v}}))^{-1} \circ \Gamma(R\_1\overline{\overline{w}}))^{-1} \circ \Gamma(R\_1\overline{\overline{w}})) (4.21)

As composition and weak equivalences of  $\mathbb{M}^{\rightarrow}$  have been defined objectwise, applying  $\Gamma$  means that we apply  $\gamma$  objectwise (a similar remark holds for  $\mathfrak{h}(\mathbb{M})$  and F). Hence, the last row of (4.21) coincides with the last two columns of (4.20), which are therefore equalities as announced.

If we denote the left isomorphism in (4.20) by  $\epsilon$  and the composite morphism

$$\Omega \mathfrak{X} \xrightarrow{\gamma(\delta_g)} K_g \xrightarrow{\epsilon} X, \tag{4.22}$$

by  $\Delta$ , we can add a corresponding square in (4.20) on the left. If we apply the functor [A, -] to this extended commutative Ho(M)-diagram, we get the commutative Set-diagram

$$\begin{bmatrix} A, \Omega \mathfrak{X} \end{bmatrix} \xrightarrow{[A, \gamma(\delta_g)]} \begin{bmatrix} A, K_g \end{bmatrix} \xrightarrow{[A, \gamma(\pi_g)]} \begin{bmatrix} A, \mathcal{X} \end{bmatrix} \xrightarrow{[A, \gamma g]} \begin{bmatrix} A, \mathfrak{X} \end{bmatrix}$$
$$\begin{bmatrix} & & & \\ & & \\ & & \\ & & \\ \begin{bmatrix} A, \epsilon \end{bmatrix} & & \\ \end{bmatrix} \xrightarrow{[A, \epsilon]} \stackrel{[A, \epsilon]}{\longrightarrow} \begin{bmatrix} A, \mathcal{X} \end{bmatrix} \xrightarrow{[A, \gamma f]} \begin{bmatrix} A, \gamma f \end{bmatrix} \xrightarrow{[A, \gamma g]} \begin{bmatrix} A, \mathfrak{X} \end{bmatrix}$$
$$(4.23)$$

On the other hand, since  $\Omega$  in the general case sends weak equivalences between fibrant objects to weak equivalences (resp., in the strongly proper case preserves all weak equivalences), the right derived functor  $\mathbb{R}^{K}\Omega \in \operatorname{Fun}(\operatorname{Ho}(M), \operatorname{Ho}(M))$  exists and satisfies

$$\mathbb{R}^{\mathsf{K}}\Omega\circ\gamma\doteq\gamma\circ\Omega\circ\tilde{F}\quad(\text{resp.},\mathbb{R}^{\mathsf{K}}\Omega\circ\gamma\doteq\gamma\circ\Omega).$$

In particular, if  $h: Y \to Z$  is an M-morphism between fibrant objects (resp., in the strongly proper case any M-morphism), we find that

$$\mathbb{R}\Omega(\gamma h) : \mathbb{R}\Omega(\gamma Y) \to \mathbb{R}\Omega(\gamma Z)$$
 is given by  $\gamma(\Omega h) : \Omega Y \to \Omega Z$ ,

where we omitted the superscript K. So if we apply first  $\mathbb{R}\Omega$  to the above-mentioned extended commutative Ho(M)-diagram and then [A, -], we get the commutative Set-diagram

$$\begin{bmatrix} A, \Omega^{2} \mathfrak{X} \end{bmatrix} \xrightarrow{[A, \gamma(\Omega(\delta_{g}))]} \begin{bmatrix} A, \Omega(K_{g}) \end{bmatrix} \xrightarrow{[A, \gamma(\Omega(\pi_{g}))]} \begin{bmatrix} A, \Omega \mathfrak{X} \end{bmatrix} \xrightarrow{[A, \gamma(\Omega g)]} \begin{bmatrix} A, \Omega \mathfrak{X} \end{bmatrix}$$

$$\begin{bmatrix} & & & \\ & & \\ & & \\ & & \\ \begin{bmatrix} A, \mathbb{R}\Omega(\epsilon) \end{bmatrix} \end{bmatrix} \xrightarrow{[A, \mathbb{R}\Omega(\epsilon)]} \begin{bmatrix} & & & \\ & & \\ & & \\ \end{bmatrix} \xrightarrow{[A, \mathbb{R}\Omega(\Delta)]} \begin{bmatrix} A, \Omega \mathfrak{X} \end{bmatrix} \xrightarrow{[A, \gamma(\Omega f)]} \begin{bmatrix} A, \Omega \mathfrak{X} \end{bmatrix} \xrightarrow{[A, \gamma(\Omega g)]} \begin{bmatrix} A, \Omega \mathfrak{X} \end{bmatrix}$$

$$\begin{bmatrix} A, \Omega^{2} \mathfrak{X} \end{bmatrix} \xrightarrow{[A, \mathbb{R}\Omega(\Delta)]} \begin{bmatrix} A, \Omega \mathfrak{X} \end{bmatrix} \xrightarrow{[A, \gamma(\Omega f)]} \begin{bmatrix} A, \Omega \mathfrak{X} \end{bmatrix} \xrightarrow{[A, \gamma(\Omega g)]} \begin{bmatrix} A, \Omega \mathfrak{X} \end{bmatrix}$$

$$(4.24)$$

We can of course iterate this procedure. The upper rows (resp., the lower rows) of (4.23), (4.24) and of the commutative diagrams obtained from the iteration are the long exact sequence (resp., the sequence) of Proposition 4.9 (resp., Proposition 4.11). From the proof of Theorem 4.10 we know that if the vertical bijections in (4.23), (4.24) and the diagrams obtained by iteration respect the zero elements, then the sequence of Proposition 4.11 is exact as well. We know from the same proof that the bijection  $[A, \epsilon]$  respects the zero elements, as  $\epsilon$  is the composite of images  $\gamma \omega$  of weak equivalences  $\omega$  and inverses  $\gamma \varpi^{-1}$ of images of weak equivalences  $\varpi$ . Since  $\mathbb{R}\Omega(\epsilon)$  is the composite of the  $\gamma(\Omega\omega)$  and the  $\gamma(\Omega \varpi)^{-1}$ , so is the composite of images under  $\gamma$  of weak equivalences  $\Omega \omega$  and inverses of such images, the bijection  $[A, \mathbb{R}\Omega(\epsilon)]$  respects also the zero elements. This completes the proof.  $\blacksquare$ 

We close this chapter with the following comparison of different loop space functors.

PROPOSITION 4.13. Let M be a pointed model category, let  $\operatorname{Path}_0^a, \operatorname{Path}_0^b, \operatorname{Path}_0^c, \ldots$  be based path space functors in M and denote by  $\Omega^a, \Omega^b, \Omega^c, \ldots$  the associated loop space functors. There exist canonical natural isomorphisms  $\iota^{ba} : \mathbb{R}\Omega^a \xrightarrow{\simeq} \mathbb{R}\Omega^b$  which satisfy the cocycle condition  $\iota^{cb} \circ \iota^{ba} = \iota^{ca}$ . *Proof.* Let  $g: \mathcal{X} \to \mathfrak{X}$  be an M-morphism, choose a lifting  $\tilde{F}g: \tilde{F}\mathcal{X} \to \tilde{F}\mathfrak{X}$ , consider Puppe's sequences  $\mathcal{P}^a_{\tilde{F}g}, \mathcal{P}^b_{\tilde{F}g} \in \ell(\mathbb{M})$  and observe that their restrictions in  $\mathbb{M}^{\to}$  are related by the isomorphism  $\xi := \mathrm{id}_{\mathrm{Ho}(\mathbb{M}^{\to})}(\tilde{F}g)$ . If we proceed as in the proof of Proposition 4.11 (but in the case of  $\ell(\mathbb{M})$  instead of  $h(\mathbb{M})$ ), we get the commutative  $\mathrm{Ho}(\mathbb{M})$ -diagram

The degrees 3 and 4 part of this commutative diagram reads

$$\begin{array}{ccc} \mathbb{R}\Omega^{a}(\mathcal{X}) & \xrightarrow{\mathbb{R}\Omega^{a}(\gamma g)} & \mathbb{R}\Omega^{a}(\mathfrak{X}) \\ \iota^{ba}_{\mathcal{X}} \downarrow \cong & \iota^{ba}_{\mathfrak{X}} \downarrow \cong \\ \mathbb{R}\Omega^{b}(\mathcal{X}) & \xrightarrow{\mathbb{R}\Omega^{b}(\gamma g)} & \mathbb{R}\Omega^{b}(\mathfrak{X}) \end{array}$$

which proves the 'canonical isomorphism' part of Proposition 4.13 (see Lemma 3.12). The 'cocycle condition' part is a direct consequence of Proposition 3.14.

#### 5. Comparison with Quillen's fibration sequences

Recall that in any model category M path objects are dual to cylinder objects: a path object of  $X \in M$  is an object Path  $X \in M$  together with a factorization

$$X \xrightarrow{\sim} \operatorname{Path} X \twoheadrightarrow X \times X$$

of the diagonal map

$$\Delta_X := (\mathrm{id}_X, \mathrm{id}_X) : X \to X \times X$$

into a weak equivalence followed by a fibration [we think of the first (resp., second) morphism of the factorization as the map which assigns to every point the constant path at this point (resp., to every path its start and end points)]. If we fix a functorial factorization  $(\alpha, \beta)$  of the diagonal map and  $f : X \to Y$  is a morphism, we get the commutative diagram

Indeed, if we denote by  $\pi_1$  and  $\pi_2$  the projections out of  $Y \times Y$ , there is a unique morphism  $(f, f) : X \to Y \times Y$  such that

$$\pi_1 \circ (f, f) = \pi_2 \circ (f, f) = f.$$

Since  $(f \times f) \circ \Delta_X$  and  $\Delta_Y \circ f$  satisfy this condition, the total square commutes. It follows from the functoriality of the factorization that the arrow Path f that makes the left and right squares commutative exists, and that Path is an endofunctor of M. We refer to Path as the *path space functor* of M.

Now let M be a pointed model category as in the preceding chapters.

In Chapter 4 we considered a based path space functor  $\operatorname{Path}_0$  of M and the corresponding loop space functor  $\Omega$  of M. On fibrant objects  $X \in M_f$  the loop space  $\Omega X \in M_f$  is the kernel of the fibration  $\operatorname{Path}_0 X \twoheadrightarrow X$  and on  $M_f$ -morphisms  $f: X \to Y$  the  $M_f$ -morphism  $\Omega f: \Omega X \to \Omega Y$  is the universal arrow

$$\begin{array}{ccc} \Omega X & \stackrel{k_X}{\longrightarrow} \operatorname{Path}_0 X & \longrightarrow & X \\ & & \downarrow^{\Omega f} & & \downarrow^{\operatorname{Path}_0 f} & & \downarrow^f \\ \Omega Y & \stackrel{k_Y}{\longrightarrow} \operatorname{Path}_0 Y & \longrightarrow & Y \end{array}$$

Quillen defines a loop space functor  $\Omega^Q$  of M from the path space functor Path of M. On objects  $X \in M$  the loop space  $\Omega^Q X \in M_f$  is the kernel of the fibration Path  $X \twoheadrightarrow X \times X$  and on M-morphisms  $f: X \to Y$  the  $M_f$ -morphism  $\Omega^Q f: \Omega^Q X \to \Omega^Q Y$  is the universal arrow

$$\Omega^{Q}X \xrightarrow{\kappa_{X}} \operatorname{Path} X \longrightarrow X \times X$$
$$\downarrow^{\Omega^{Q}f} \qquad \downarrow^{\operatorname{Path} f} \qquad \downarrow^{f \times f}$$
$$\Omega^{Q}Y \xrightarrow{\kappa_{Y}} \operatorname{Path} Y \longrightarrow Y \times Y$$

A non-obvious result is that for any  $V \in M_{f}$  the functor of points

 $[-, \Omega^Q V] \in \operatorname{Fun}(\operatorname{Ho}(M)^{\operatorname{op}}, \operatorname{Set})$ 

is valued in the category Grp of groups and that 'accordingly'  $\Omega^Q V$  is a group object of Ho(M). Another non-trivial result is that if K is the kernel of a fibration  $U \twoheadrightarrow V$ between fibrant objects U, V, there is an M-morphism  $\rho : \Omega^Q V \times_{\mathsf{M}} K \to K$  such that  $\gamma \rho : \Omega^Q V \times_{\mathsf{Ho}(\mathsf{M})} K \to K$  is an action of the group object  $\Omega^Q V$  on K.

THEOREM 5.1. Let M be a pointed model category that is equipped with a path space functor Path implemented by a fixed functorial factorization. Quillen's loop space functor  $\Omega^Q$  is a loop space functor in the sense of the present paper, i.e., a loop space functor associated to a based path space functor Path<sup>Q</sup><sub>Q</sub> of M.

*Proof.* It is natural to define the based path space  $\operatorname{Path}_0^Q X$  of  $X \in M$  as the kernel of the composite  $\operatorname{Path} X \to X \times X \xrightarrow{\pi_1} X$ , where  $\pi_1$  is the projection on the first factor of  $X \times X$ . The projection on the second factor will be denoted  $\pi_2$ . For  $f: X \to Y$  and  $i \in \{1, 2\}$ , we have a commutative diagram

$$\begin{array}{cccc} \operatorname{Path}_{0}^{Q} X & \stackrel{\mathfrak{e}_{X}}{\longrightarrow} \operatorname{Path} X & \longrightarrow & X \times X & \stackrel{\pi_{i}}{\longrightarrow} X \\ & & & & \downarrow \\ \operatorname{Path}_{0}^{Q} f & & \downarrow \\ \operatorname{Path}_{0}^{Q} Y & \stackrel{\mathfrak{e}_{Y}}{\longrightarrow} \operatorname{Path} Y & \longrightarrow & Y \times Y & \longrightarrow \end{array} \\ \end{array}$$

where  $\operatorname{Path}_{0}^{Q} f$  is the universal arrow that we get for i = 1. Since Path is an endofunctor, the same holds for  $\operatorname{Path}_{0}^{Q}$ . If i = 2 the diagram gives a natural transformation  $\operatorname{Path}_{0}^{Q} \Rightarrow \operatorname{id}_{M}$ . The functor  $\operatorname{Path}_0^Q$  is a based path space functor in the sense of Definition 4.1 if for every fibrant  $X \in M$  the M-morphism  $\operatorname{Path}_0^Q X \to X$  is a fibration with an acyclic domain.

Since fibrations are closed under pullbacks, the projection  $\pi_i : X \times X \to X$  is a fibration if X is fibrant, so that the composite  $p_i : \operatorname{Path} X \twoheadrightarrow X \times X \xrightarrow{\pi_i} X$  is also a fibration. As  $X \xrightarrow{\sim} \operatorname{Path} X \xrightarrow{p_i} X$  is the identity by definition of  $\operatorname{Path} X$ , it follows from the 2-out-of-3 axiom that  $p_i$  is a weak equivalence and therefore a trivial fibration. Since trivial fibrations are closed under pullbacks and  $\operatorname{Path}_0^Q X := \ker p_1 = \operatorname{Path} X \times_X 0$ , the morphism  $\operatorname{Path}_0^Q X \to 0$  is a trivial fibration, so that  $\operatorname{Path}_0^Q X$  is acyclic. Next we show that the M-morphism

$$\mathfrak{p}_2: \operatorname{Path}^Q_0 X \xrightarrow{\mathfrak{k}_X} \operatorname{Path} X \xrightarrow{p_2} X$$

is a fibration. Let  $Y \xrightarrow{\sim} Z$  be a trivial cofibration such that the left square of the diagram

$$\begin{array}{ccc} Y & \longrightarrow \operatorname{Path}_{0}^{Q} X & \stackrel{\mathfrak{e}_{X}}{\longrightarrow} \operatorname{Path} X \\ & & & & & \\ & & & & & \\ & & & & & \\ & & & & & \\ Z & \stackrel{\mathfrak{l}}{\longrightarrow} & X & \stackrel{\mathfrak{l}_{2}}{\longrightarrow} & X \times X \end{array}$$

commutes. To see that the right square also commutes, observe that there is a unique morphism  $m : \operatorname{Path}_0^Q X \to X \times X$  such that  $\pi_1 \circ m = 0$  and  $\pi_2 \circ m = \mathfrak{p}_2$ . Since both morphisms  $\operatorname{Path}_0^Q X \to X \times X$  in the right square fulfill these conditions, they coincide. As the total square now commutes, there exists a lifting  $\ell : Z \longrightarrow \operatorname{Path} X$ . Since  $\operatorname{Path}_0^Q X$  is a kernel, there is a unique morphism  $\mathfrak{l} : Z \to \operatorname{Path}_0^Q X$  such that  $\mathfrak{k}_X \circ \mathfrak{l} = \ell$ . As the total upper triangle commutes and  $\mathfrak{k}_X$  is a monomorphism and so is left cancellable, the left upper triangle commutes. In order to conclude that the left lower triangle commutes and that  $\mathfrak{p}_2$  is a fibration, it suffices to notice that  $(0, \operatorname{id})$  is left cancellable.

It remains to prove that the loop space functor  $\Omega$  associated to the chosen based path space functor  $\operatorname{Path}_{0}^{Q}$  is Quillen's loop space functor  $\Omega^{Q}$ . For any  $f: X \to Y$  we have the following commutative diagram:



in which only the universal morphisms  $\ell_X$  and  $\mathfrak{l}_X$  and the associated commutative squares

require explanation. Obviously there is a unique morphism  $\ell_X : \Omega^Q X \to \operatorname{Path}^Q_0 X$  with

$$\mathfrak{k}_X(p_1) \circ \ell_X = \kappa_X(\phi_X). \tag{5.2}$$

Notice now that

$$\pi_i \circ \phi_X \circ \mathfrak{k}_X(p_1) \circ k_X(\mathfrak{p}_2) = 0,$$

as  $\mathfrak{k}_X(p_1)$  (resp.,  $k_X(\mathfrak{p}_2)$ ) is the kernel of  $p_1$  (resp.,  $\mathfrak{p}_2$ ). However, the zero morphism  $\Omega X \to 0 \to X \times X$  is the unique morphism from  $\Omega X$  to  $X \times X$  whose composite with  $\pi_i$  is the zero morphism  $\Omega X \to 0 \to X$ . Hence

$$\phi_X \circ \mathfrak{k}_X(p_1) \circ k_X(\mathfrak{p}_2) = 0$$

and there is a unique morphism  $l_X : \Omega X \to \Omega^Q X$  such that

$$\kappa_X(\phi_X) \circ \mathfrak{l}_X = \mathfrak{k}_X(p_1) \circ k_X(\mathfrak{p}_2). \tag{5.3}$$

From (5.2) and (5.3) it follows that

$$\mathfrak{k}_X(p_1) \circ \ell_X \circ \mathfrak{l}_X = \mathfrak{k}_X(p_1) \circ k_X(\mathfrak{p}_2) \text{ and } \ell_X \circ \mathfrak{l}_X = k_X(\mathfrak{p}_2)$$

as  $\mathfrak{k}_X(p_1)$  is left cancellable. The commutativity of the square associated with  $\ell_X, \ell_Y$  (resp., with  $\mathfrak{l}_X, \mathfrak{l}_Y$ ) follows from the left cancellability of  $\mathfrak{k}_Y$  (resp., of  $\kappa_Y$ ).

We are now prepared to show that the pair  $(\Omega^Q X, \ell_X)$  is a kernel of  $\mathfrak{p}_2$  so that  $\Omega^Q X \doteq \Omega X, \Omega^Q f \doteq \Omega f$  and  $\Omega^Q \doteq \Omega$ , which then completes the proof (cf. diagram (5.1)). To see that  $(\Omega^Q X, \ell_X)$  is a kernel, notice first that

$$\mathfrak{p}_2 \circ \ell_X = \pi_2 \circ \phi_X \circ \kappa_X(\phi_X) = 0.$$

Further, if  $\lambda : \Lambda \to \operatorname{Path}_0^Q X$  satisfies  $\mathfrak{p}_2 \circ \lambda = 0$ , there is a unique morphism  $\mu : \Lambda \to \Omega X$ such that  $k_X(\mathfrak{p}_2) \circ \mu = \lambda$ . However, then  $\mathfrak{l}_X \circ \mu : \Lambda \to \Omega^Q X$  satisfies  $\ell_X \circ \mathfrak{l}_X \circ \mu = \lambda$ and is the unique morphism with these properties. Indeed, if  $\nu : \Lambda \to \Omega^Q X$  is such that  $\ell_X \circ \nu = \lambda$ , then

$$\kappa_X(\phi_X) \circ \nu = \mathfrak{k}_X(p_1) \circ \ell_X \circ \nu = \mathfrak{k}_X(p_1) \circ \lambda = \mathfrak{k}_X(p_1) \circ k_X(\mathfrak{p}_2) \circ \mu = \kappa_X(\phi_X) \circ \mathfrak{l}_X \circ \mu,$$

so that  $\nu = l_X \circ \mu$ .

REMARK 5.2. If we dualize the constructions of this paper, we get the reduced suspension functor  $\Sigma$  instead of the loop space functor  $\Omega$ . From Theorem 5.1 and its dualization it follows that Quillen's suspension and loop space functors  $\Sigma^Q$  and  $\Omega^Q$  are suspension and loop space functors in our sense. Since

$$\mathbb{L}\Sigma^Q: extsf{Ho}( extsf{M}) ee extsf{Ho}( extsf{M}): \mathbb{R}\Omega^Q$$

are adjoint functors, Proposition 4.13 and its dualization show that any derived suspension functor  $\mathbb{L}\Sigma$  is left adjoint to any derived loop space functor  $\mathbb{R}\Omega$ .

Because of Theorems 5.1 and 4.5 Quillen's loop space functor  $\Omega^Q \in \operatorname{Fun}(M, M)$  preserves weak equivalences between fibrant objects, so that Theorem 2.1 implies that its derived functor  $\mathbb{R}^K \Omega^Q$  exists and is given at  $\mathfrak{X} \in M$  by

$$\mathbb{R}\Omega^Q(\mathfrak{X}) \doteq \Omega^Q(\tilde{F}\mathfrak{X}) \in \mathrm{Ho}(M),$$

where we omitted superscript K. Quillen now gives the following

DEFINITION 5.3. Let M be a pointed model category. A *fibration sequence* in Ho(M) is a sequence

$$X \to \mathcal{X} \to \mathfrak{X}$$

in Ho(M) together with a Ho(M)-morphism  $R : \mathbb{R}\Omega^Q(\mathfrak{X}) \times_{\operatorname{Ho}(M)} X \to X$ , such that:

(1) the sequence is isomorphic in Ho(M) to a sequence  $K \to U \to V$  that is implemented by the kernel K of an M-fibration  $U \twoheadrightarrow V$  between fibrant objects U, V, i.e., there is a commutative Ho(M)-diagram

$$\begin{array}{cccc} X & \longrightarrow & \mathcal{X} & \longrightarrow & \mathfrak{X} \\ i \Big| \cong & i \Big| \cong & k \Big| \cong \\ K & \longrightarrow & U & \longrightarrow & V \end{array}$$
(5.4)

whose vertical arrows are isomorphisms;

(2) the morphism R coincides under this isomorphism with the morphism  $\gamma \rho$ , i.e., if  $\tilde{k}$  is the isomorphism

$$\mathbb{R}\Omega^Q(\mathfrak{X}) \xrightarrow{\cong} \Omega^Q V$$

that is induced by k and if  $\tilde{k}^{-1}\times i^{-1}$  is the isomorphism

$$\Omega^{Q}V \times_{\operatorname{Ho}(M)} K \xrightarrow{\cong} \mathbb{R}\Omega^{Q}(\mathfrak{X}) \times_{\operatorname{Ho}(M)} X$$

that is induced by  $\tilde{k}^{-1}$  and  $i^{-1}$ , we have

$$i \circ R \circ (\tilde{k}^{-1} \times i^{-1}) = \gamma \rho$$

We will show that Quillen's fibration sequences are tightly related to our homotopy fiber sequences. An initial observation that confirms this claim is Quillen's result that if we take a fibration sequence  $K \to U \to V$  with action  $\gamma \rho$ , we have a connecting Ho(M)-morphism

$$\delta^Q : \Omega^Q V \to K, \tag{5.5}$$

namely

$$\Omega^{Q}V \xrightarrow{(\mathrm{id},\gamma(0))} \Omega^{Q}V \times_{\mathrm{Ho}(\mathrm{M})} K \xrightarrow{\gamma\rho} K,$$

such that  $\Omega^Q V \xrightarrow{\delta^Q} K \to U$  is also a fibration sequence. Moreover, Quillen gets a long exact sequence similar to the long exact sequence in Proposition 4.9. Finally, the connecting morphism (5.5) and the similarly defined connecting morphism

$$\Delta^Q : \mathbb{R}\Omega^Q(\mathfrak{X}) \to X \tag{5.6}$$

render the left square of the diagram

$$\mathbb{R}\Omega^{Q}(\mathfrak{X}) \xrightarrow{\Delta^{Q}} X \longrightarrow \mathcal{X} \\
\stackrel{\tilde{k}}{\downarrow}\cong i \downarrow \cong j \downarrow \cong \\
\Omega^{Q}V \xrightarrow{\delta^{Q}} K \longrightarrow U$$
(5.7)

commutative.

The next theorem specifies the relationship between fibration sequences and homotopy fiber sequences.

THEOREM 5.4. A homotopy fiber sequence  $X \xrightarrow{f} \mathcal{X} \xrightarrow{g} \mathfrak{X}$  of  $h(M_f)$  is a fibration sequence  $X \xrightarrow{\gamma f} \mathcal{X} \xrightarrow{\gamma g} \mathfrak{X}$  in Ho(M) and the connecting morphism  $\Delta$  defined in (4.22) coincides with the connecting morphism  $\Delta^Q$  considered in (5.6).

*Proof.* Let  $X \xrightarrow{f} \mathcal{X} \xrightarrow{g} \mathfrak{X}$  be an objectwise fibrant homotopy fiber sequence of M, let  $\mathcal{X} \xrightarrow{\sim} \bar{\mathcal{X}} \xrightarrow{\bar{g}} \mathfrak{X}$  be a factorization of g into a weak equivalence followed by a fibration and let  $(K, \kappa)$  be the kernel of  $\bar{g}$ . Then  $K \xrightarrow{\kappa} \bar{\mathcal{X}} \xrightarrow{\bar{g}} \mathfrak{X}$  is also a homotopy fiber sequence of M, and if we proceed as at the beginning of the proof of Proposition 4.11, we get a commutative Ho(M)-diagram

$$\begin{array}{cccc} X & \xrightarrow{\gamma f} & \mathcal{X} & \xrightarrow{\gamma g} & \mathfrak{X} \\ i \middle| \cong & i \middle| \cong & & & \\ K & \xrightarrow{\gamma \kappa} & \bar{\mathcal{X}} & \xrightarrow{\gamma \bar{g}} & \mathfrak{X} \end{array}$$
(5.8)

The group action  $\gamma \rho : \Omega^Q \mathfrak{X} \times_{Ho(M)} K \to K$  mentioned just above Theorem 5.1 induces a Ho(M)-morphism

$$R: \mathbb{R}\Omega^Q(\mathfrak{X}) \times_{\mathsf{Ho}(\mathsf{M})} X \xrightarrow{\mathrm{id} \times i} \Omega^Q \mathfrak{X} \times_{\mathsf{Ho}(\mathsf{M})} K \xrightarrow{\gamma \rho} K \xrightarrow{i^{-1}} X$$

which, together with the sequence  $X \xrightarrow{\gamma f} \mathcal{X} \xrightarrow{\gamma g} \mathfrak{X}$ , satisfies the requirements of Definition 5.3, so that this sequence is a fibration sequence in Ho(M) as announced.

To prove that  $\Delta = \Delta^Q$  we will describe the following commutative Ho(M)-diagram:



The commutative front of (5.9) comes from the commutative Ho(M)-diagram (4.20) and (4.22). In particular,

$$\Delta = \epsilon \circ \gamma(\delta_g). \tag{5.10}$$

The commutative bottom is nothing but the commutative Ho(M)-diagram 5.8. In particular, its arrows that are not labelled are the isomorphisms *i* and *j*.

The upper row of the back of diagram (5.9) consists of the image under  $\gamma$  of the terms of degrees 0–3 of Puppe's long homotopy fiber sequence  $\mathcal{P}_{\bar{g}} \in \ell(\mathbb{M}_{\mathrm{f}})$  associated to  $\bar{g} \in \mathbb{M}_{\mathrm{f}}^{\rightarrow}$ . Notice that it follows from diagram (4.6) and the pasting law for pullbacks that  $(\Omega^Q \mathfrak{X}, \delta_{\bar{g}})$ is the kernel of the fibration  $\pi_{\bar{q}} : K_{\bar{q}} \twoheadrightarrow \bar{\mathcal{X}}$  with fibrant source and target.

The lower row of the back contains the fibration sequence that is implemented by the kernel K of the fibration  $\bar{\mathcal{X}} \twoheadrightarrow \mathfrak{X}$  between the fibrant objects  $\bar{\mathcal{X}}$  and  $\mathfrak{X}$  and the connecting

morphism (5.5) that makes

$$\Omega^{Q} \mathfrak{X} \xrightarrow{\delta^{Q}} K \xrightarrow{\gamma \kappa} \bar{\mathcal{X}}$$

$$(5.11)$$

a fibration sequence (see paragraph below Definition 5.3 and [32, Section I.3.5, Proposition 3]).

As in the commutative M-diagram



the front square is a model square and the back square is the pullback of a weakly equivalent fibrant cospan, the universal arrow  $\mathfrak{k} : K \dashrightarrow K_{\bar{g}}$  is a weak equivalence. This explains the middle and right commutative squares of the back of diagram (5.9). In order to show that (5.11) satisfies the requirements of Definition 5.3, Quillen had to construct a sequence that is implemented by the kernel of a fibration between fibrant objects and is isomorphic in Ho(M) to (5.11). Actually he showed that the left square of the back of diagram (5.9) commutes and uses the isomorphism given by the left and middle squares:

$$\delta^Q = \gamma \mathfrak{k}^{-1} \circ \gamma(\delta_{\bar{q}}). \tag{5.12}$$

In order to understand the top square of (5.9), we consider the commutative M-diagram



Once more, since the front square is a model square and the back square is the pullback of a weakly equivalent fibrant cospan, the universal arrow  $K_g \dashrightarrow K_{\bar{g}}$  is a weak equivalence. Hence, the top middle and right squares of (5.9) commute and their arrows that are not labelled are isomorphisms; the one on the right is isomorphism j and the one on the left is an isomorphism that we denote by  $\iota$ . From the commutativity of diagram (4.7), follows that the top left square of diagram (5.9) commutes:

$$\gamma(\delta_{\bar{g}}) = \iota \circ \gamma(\delta_g). \tag{5.13}$$

It remains to explain the commutativity of the squares that are parallel to the right face of diagram (5.9). Only the commutativity of the leftmost square is not entirely obvious. However, as

$$K_g \xrightarrow{\pi_g} \mathcal{X} \xrightarrow{g} \mathfrak{X} \text{ and } K \xrightarrow{\kappa} \bar{\mathcal{X}} \xrightarrow{g} \mathfrak{X}$$

are homotopy fiber sequences of M and the factorization

$$\mathcal{X} \xrightarrow{\sim} \bar{\mathcal{X}} \xrightarrow{g} \mathfrak{X}$$

of g implements an isomorphism  $\xi$  in  $Ho(M^{\rightarrow})$  between their restrictions, there is a unique isomorphism  $\Xi$  in Ho(h(M)) that extends  $\xi$ . Hence

$$i \circ \epsilon = \gamma \mathfrak{k}^{-1} \circ \iota. \tag{5.14}$$

If we compare diagrams (5.8) and (5.4), we see that in our case k = id, so that diagram (5.7) shows that

$$\Delta^Q = i^{-1} \circ \delta^Q. \tag{5.15}$$

On the other hand, it follows from (5.10), (5.13), (5.14) and (5.12) that

$$\Delta = \epsilon \circ \gamma(\delta_g) = \epsilon \circ \iota^{-1} \circ \gamma(\delta_{\bar{g}}) = i^{-1} \circ \gamma \mathfrak{k}^{-1} \circ \gamma(\delta_{\bar{g}}) = i^{-1} \circ \delta^Q.$$
(5.16)

Finally, (5.15) and (5.16) allow us to conclude that  $\Delta = \Delta^Q$ .

#### 6. Application to chain complexes

**6.1.** Long homotopy fiber sequence and long exact homology sequence. A particular advantage of our homotopy fiber sequence concept and related theory is that they are easy to apply. Let us summarize our construction. In each *pointed model category* that is equipped with a *based path space functor*, we consider the associated *loop space* functor and, for each morphism between fibrant objects, we take the associated homotopy kernel and connecting morphism. We then get Puppe's long homotopy fiber sequence and the corresponding long exact sequences of sets. In this chapter we apply the previous construction to chain complexes of modules.

Let A be an Abelian category and denote by Ch(A) the Abelian category of chain complexes and chain maps in A. If R is a unital ring, the category R-Mod of left R-modules and R-linear maps is Abelian and Ch(R) := Ch(R-Mod) is the (Abelian) category of chain complexes of (left) R-modules and corresponding chain maps. We denote by  $Ch_{\geq 0}(R)$ the full subcategory of non-negatively graded chain complexes of R-modules. Both categories, Ch(R) and  $Ch_{\geq 0}(R)$ , have a projective model structure in which weak equivalences are quasi-isomorphisms, while fibrations are degreewise surjective chain maps in the unbounded case and chain maps that are surjective in positive degrees in the non-negatively graded case. In particular, in both cases all objects are fibrant. Moreover, both model categories are pointed with zero object the chain complex ( $\{0\}, 0$ ).

If  $p \in \mathbb{Z}$ , the translation functor  $[p] \in \operatorname{Fun}(\operatorname{Ch}(A), \operatorname{Ch}(A))$  is defined on objects  $(A, d_A) \in \operatorname{Ch}(A)$  by

$$A[p]_n := A_{n-p} \quad \text{and} \quad d_{A[p]} := (-1)^p d_A,$$
(6.1)

and on Ch(A)-morphisms  $f : (A, d_A) \to (B, d_B)$  by  $f[p]_n := f_{n-p}$ . Further, the mapping cone Mc(f) of the chain map f is the chain complex given by

$$\operatorname{Mc}(f)_n := A[1]_n \oplus B_n \quad \text{and} \quad d_{\operatorname{Mc}(f)} := \begin{pmatrix} d_{A[1]} & 0\\ f & d_B \end{pmatrix}.$$
(6.2)

It is well known that to every short exact sequence  $0 \to A \xrightarrow{f} B \xrightarrow{g} C \to 0$  of chain complexes and chain maps in **A** is associated a long exact sequence in homology. It is easy to see that the short sequences of chain complexes

$$0 \to B \xrightarrow{i} \mathrm{Mc}(f) \xrightarrow{p} A[1] \to 0 \tag{6.3}$$

(*i* and *p* are the canonical injection and projection, respectively) and  $0 \to C \to \operatorname{Mc}(g) \to B[1] \to 0$  are exact. The long exact sequences associated to the latter two short exact sequences and the long exact sequence associated to the former short exact sequence are known to coincide. Since  $H_n(A[p]) = H_{n-p}(A)$ , the long exact sequence in homology reads (see for instance [38])

$$\cdots \longrightarrow H_1(\operatorname{Mc}(f)) \xrightarrow{H_1(p)} H_0(A) \xrightarrow{H_0(f)} H_0(B) \xrightarrow{H_0(i)} H_0(\operatorname{Mc}(f)) \xrightarrow{H_0(p)} H_{-1}(A) \xrightarrow{H_{-1}(f)} H_{-1}(B) \longrightarrow \cdots .$$
 (6.4)

As mentioned above, in the case  $\mathbf{A} = R - \text{Mod}$ , the underlying category Ch(R) or  $Ch_{\geq 0}(R)$  is a pointed model category. Hence it is natural to ask whether we can find a based path space functor of the category of chain complexes considered, such that the preceding long exact sequence in homology associated to  $f: A \to B$  or to the sequence

$$\cdots \longrightarrow \operatorname{Mc}(f)[-1] \xrightarrow{p[-1]} A \xrightarrow{f} B \xrightarrow{i} \operatorname{Mc}(f) \xrightarrow{p} A[1] \xrightarrow{f[1]} B[1] \longrightarrow \cdots$$
(6.5)

can be obtained as a long exact sequence of sets

$$\cdots \longrightarrow [M, \Omega^2 B] \xrightarrow{[M, \gamma(\Omega(\delta_f))]} [M, \Omega(K_f)] \xrightarrow{[M, \gamma(\Omega(\pi_f))]} [M, \Omega A]$$
$$\xrightarrow{[M, \gamma(\Omega f)]} [M, \Omega B] \xrightarrow{[M, \gamma(\delta_f)]} [M, K_f] \xrightarrow{[M, \gamma(\pi_f)]} [M, A] \xrightarrow{[M, \gamma f]} [M, B]$$
(6.6)

corresponding to Puppe's long homotopy fiber sequence

$$\cdots \longrightarrow \Omega^2 B \xrightarrow{\Omega(\delta_f)} \Omega(K_f) \xrightarrow{\Omega(\pi_f)} \Omega A \xrightarrow{\Omega f} \Omega B \xrightarrow{\delta_f} K_f \xrightarrow{\pi_f} A \xrightarrow{f} B$$
(6.7)

of f.

**6.2.** Chain complexes as pointed model category. The comparison of (6.5) and (6.7) suggests that we find a based path space functor

$$\operatorname{Path}_0 \in \operatorname{Fun}(\operatorname{Ch}(R), \operatorname{Ch}(R))$$

such that the homotopy kernel  $K_f := \operatorname{Path}_0 B \times_B A$  of a chain map  $f : A \to B$  coincides with the shifted mapping cone  $\operatorname{Mc}(f)[-1]$  of f, so that we must define  $\operatorname{Path}_0 B = K_{\operatorname{id}_B}$ by

$$\operatorname{Path}_0 B := \operatorname{Mc}(\operatorname{id}_B)[-1] \in \operatorname{Ch}(R),$$

for any  $B \in Ch(R)$ . In view of (6.1) and (6.2) we have

$$(\operatorname{Path}_0 B)_n = B_n \oplus B_{n+1}$$
 and  $d_B := d_{\operatorname{Path}_0 B} = -d_{\operatorname{Mc}(\operatorname{id}_B)} = \begin{pmatrix} d_B & 0\\ -\operatorname{id}_B & -d_B \end{pmatrix}$ .

If  $B \in Ch_{\geq 0}(R) \subset Ch(R)$ , then its based path space

 $\operatorname{Path}_{0}B: \cdots \xrightarrow{\operatorname{d}_{B,2}} B_{1} \oplus B_{2} \xrightarrow{\operatorname{d}_{B,1}} B_{0} \oplus B_{1} \xrightarrow{\operatorname{d}_{B,0}} B_{0} \xrightarrow{\operatorname{d}_{B,-1}} 0$ 

in Ch(R) has a term in degree -1, so that we define its based path space  $Trath_0 B$  in  $Ch_{\geq 0}(R)$  by truncation as the sub-complex

$$\operatorname{Trath}_{0} B : \cdots \xrightarrow{\mathrm{d}_{B,2}} B_{1} \oplus B_{2} \xrightarrow{\mathrm{d}_{B,1}} \ker \mathrm{d}_{B,0} \xrightarrow{\mathrm{d}_{B,0}} 0.$$

If  $f : A \to B$  is a chain map, then  $f \oplus f[-1]$  is a chain map from  $A \oplus A[-1]$  to  $B \oplus B[-1]$ , i.e., it is a degree zero *R*-linear map that commutes with the differentials  $d \oplus (-d)$ , so also with the differentials d since the additional terms are both equal to -f. Hence Path<sub>0</sub>  $f := f \oplus f[-1]$  is a chain map from Path<sub>0</sub> A to Path<sub>0</sub> B and its restriction Trath<sub>0</sub>  $f := Path_0 f|_{Trath_0 A}$  is valued in Trath<sub>0</sub> B and is therefore a chain map from Trath<sub>0</sub> A to Trath<sub>0</sub> B. Since  $\oplus$  is the coproduct functor

$$\amalg: \operatorname{Ch}(R) \times \operatorname{Ch}(R) \to \operatorname{Ch}(R)$$

on the product category, we have

$$\begin{aligned} \operatorname{Path}_{0}(g \circ f) &= \operatorname{II}\left(g \circ f, g[-1] \circ f[-1]\right) = \operatorname{II}\left((g, g[-1]) \circ (f, f[-1])\right) \\ &= \operatorname{II}\left(g, g[-1]\right) \circ \operatorname{II}\left(f, f[-1]\right) = \operatorname{Path}_{0} g \circ \operatorname{Path}_{0} f, \end{aligned}$$

and the same result obviously holds for the restriction  $\operatorname{Trath}_0(g \circ f)$  of  $\operatorname{Path}_0(g \circ f)$ . Since  $\operatorname{Path}_0$  and  $\operatorname{Trath}_0$  clearly preserve the identities, they are endofunctors of  $\operatorname{Ch}(R)$ and  $\operatorname{Ch}_{\geq 0}(R)$ , respectively. Further, the projection  $\pi_B : \operatorname{Path}_0 B \to B$  onto the first term of  $\operatorname{Path}_0 B$  is visibly a degreewise surjective chain map, i.e., a fibration of  $\operatorname{Ch}(R)$ , and the projection  $\tau_B : \operatorname{Trath}_0 B \to B$  onto the first term is a chain map that is surjective in positive degrees, i.e., is a fibration of  $\operatorname{Ch}_{\geq 0}(R)$ . Since  $\operatorname{id}_B$  is a quasi-isomorphism, its mapping cone  $\operatorname{Mc}(\operatorname{id}_B)$  has vanishing homology and so does its shift  $\operatorname{Path}_0 B$  and the subcomplex  $\operatorname{Trath}_0 B$ . This means that the morphisms  $0 \to \operatorname{Path}_0 B$  and  $0 \to \operatorname{Trath}_0 B$ are quasi-isomorphisms, so that the based path spaces in  $\operatorname{Ch}(R)$  and  $\operatorname{Ch}_{\geq 0}(R)$  are acyclic. Finally, the transformations  $\pi : \operatorname{Path}_0 \to \operatorname{id}_{\operatorname{Ch}(R)}$  and  $\tau : \operatorname{Trath}_0 \to \operatorname{id}_{\operatorname{Ch}_{\geq 0}(R)}$  are clearly natural, so that  $\operatorname{Path}_0$  and  $\operatorname{Trath}_0$  are actually based path space functors in  $\operatorname{Ch}(R)$  and  $\operatorname{Ch}_{>0}(R)$ , respectively.

To compute Puppe's sequence, we still need the loop space functor, the homotopy kernel and the connecting morphism.

By definition the loop space of B is the kernel of the fibration  $\pi_B$  or  $\tau_B$ . It is easy to see that in the unbounded case, the loop space  $\Omega B$  is

$$\Omega B = B[-1] \tag{6.8}$$

with differential  $d_{\Omega B} = d_{B[-1]} = -d_B$ , while in the non-negatively graded case, the loop space  $\Theta B$  is the truncation subcomplex

$$\Theta B: \dots \longrightarrow B_2 \xrightarrow{-d_{B,2}} \ker d_{B,1} \xrightarrow{-d_{B,1}} 0 \tag{6.9}$$

of  $\Omega B$ . Furthermore, the universal morphisms  $\Omega f$  and  $\Theta f$  associated to a chain map  $f: A \to B$  are obviously the chain map

$$\Omega f = f[-1] \tag{6.10}$$

and its restriction

$$\Theta f = f[-1]|_{\Theta A},\tag{6.11}$$

respectively.

Recall now that we chose the based path space functor so that the homotopy kernel  $K_f$  of a chain map  $f : A \to B$  should be the (-1)-shift of this map's mapping cone Mc(f). A direct computation shows that in the unbounded case the pullback  $K_f := \text{Path}_0 B \times_B A$  is actually given by

$$K_f = Mc(f)[-1],$$
 (6.12)

i.e.,

$$(K_f)_n = A_n \oplus B_{n+1}$$
 and  $d_f := d_{K_f} = \begin{pmatrix} d_A & 0\\ -f & -d_B \end{pmatrix}$ 

Indeed, it is straightforward to check that the arrows of the square in the diagram



are chain maps and the square commutes. Further assume that  $\varphi_1 : C \to \operatorname{Path}_0 B$  and  $\varphi_2 : C \to A$  are chain maps such that  $\pi_B \circ \varphi_1 = f \circ \varphi_2$ . If we set  $\varphi_1 c = (\varphi_1 c)_n + (\varphi_1 c)_{n+1}$ , the preceding commutation information reads

$$(\varphi_1 c)_n = f(\varphi_2 c). \tag{6.14}$$

Now, if the universal arrow  $\mu$  exists we necessarily have

$$(\mu c)_n = \varphi_2 c \text{ and } (\mu c)_{n+1} = (\varphi_1 c)_{n+1},$$
 (6.15)

so that it is unique. A short computation that uses (6.14) shows that conversely, the map  $\mu$  defined by (6.15) is a chain map that makes the two triangles in (6.13) commute. In the non-negatively graded case, the homotopy kernel  $\Im_f$  is again the truncation subcomplex, i.e., in positive degrees  $\Im_f$  coincides with  $K_f$ , while in degree zero  $\Im_f$  is given by

$$(\mathfrak{F}_f)_0 = \ker \mathbf{d}_{f,0} = \{(a_0, b_1) \in A_0 \oplus B_1 : d_B(b_1) = -f(a_0)\}.$$
(6.16)

Finally, we defined the connecting morphism  $\delta_f$  as the universal map  $\Omega B \longrightarrow K_f$ associated to the inclusion  $\varphi_1$  and the zero morphism  $\varphi_2$ . From (6.15) it follows that  $\delta_f$  is in the unbounded case the inclusion

$$\delta_f = i[-1] : B[-1] \to \operatorname{Mc}(f)[-1],$$
(6.17)

where  $i : B \to Mc(f)$  is the injection of (6.3). In the non-negatively graded case, the universal connecting morphism  $\theta_f : \Theta B \dashrightarrow \mathfrak{F}_f$  coincides with i[-1] in positive degrees, and  $\theta_{f,0}$ : ker  $d_{B,1} \dashrightarrow$  ker  $d_{f,0}$  is the inclusion

$$\theta_{f,0} = i[-1]_0|_{\ker d_{B,1}} \tag{6.18}$$

because  $\varphi_{1,0}$  is the inclusion from ker  $d_{B,1}$  to

$$\ker d_{B,0} = \{ (-d_B b, b) : b \in B_1 \}.$$

Let us still mention that in the unbounded case,  $\pi_f: K_f \to A$  is the projection

$$\pi_f = p[-1] : \operatorname{Mc}(f)[-1] \to A,$$
(6.19)

where  $p: Mc(f) \to A[1]$  is the projection of (6.3), and in the non-negatively graded case  $\pi_f$  coincides with p[-1] in all positive degrees and with the restriction

$$\pi_{f,0} = p[-1]_0|_{\ker d_{f,0}} \tag{6.20}$$

in degree zero.

We are now prepared to compute Puppe's long homotopy fiber sequence and the corresponding long exact sequences in sets. We already mentioned (see (4.14)) that there is a 1:1 correspondence between the set [A, B] of Ho(M)-morphisms from a cofibrant object A of a model category M to a fibrant object B and the set Hom<sub>M</sub> $(A, B)/\simeq$  of homotopy classes of M-morphisms from A to B. Let us recall that two morphisms from a cofibrant A to a fibrant B are homotopic if and only if they are right homotopic. For M = Ch with Ch = Ch(R) or  $Ch = Ch_{\geq 0}(R)$ , two chain maps from a cofibrant A to any B are homotopic if and only if they are chain homotopic [22, Theorem 2.3.11]. Moreover, the chain complex R concentrated in degree zero (with zero differential) is cofibrant [22, Lemma 2.3.6], so that

$$[R, A] \cong \operatorname{Hom}_{\operatorname{Ch}}(R, A) / \simeq .$$

Since the ring R with unit 1 is a free R-module with basis 1, a degree zero R-linear map  $\mathfrak{f}: R \to A$  is fully determined by the image  $\mathfrak{f}(1) \in A_0$  and a chain map  $\mathfrak{f}: R \to A$  can be identified with the image  $\mathfrak{f}(1) \in \ker d_{A,0}$ : there is a 1:1 correspondence

$$\flat : \operatorname{Hom}_{\operatorname{Ch}}(R, A) \ni \mathfrak{f} \mapsto \mathfrak{f}(1) \in \ker d_{A,0}.$$

Further, two chain maps  $\mathfrak{f}, \mathfrak{g} : R \to A$  are homotopic if and only if there is an *R*-linear map  $\mathfrak{h} : R \to A_1$  such that  $\mathfrak{f} - \mathfrak{g} = d_{A,1} \circ \mathfrak{h}$ , or equivalently there is a 1-chain  $\mathfrak{h}(1) \in A_1$  such that  $\mathfrak{f}(1) - \mathfrak{g}(1) = d_{A,1}(\mathfrak{h}(1))$ . This means that

$$\mathfrak{f} \simeq \mathfrak{g}$$
 if and only if  $\mathfrak{b}(\mathfrak{f}) - \mathfrak{b}(\mathfrak{g}) \in \operatorname{im} d_{A,1}$ .

Hence  $\flat$  induces a 1:1 correspondence

$$\flat_{\sharp} : [R, A] \cong \operatorname{Hom}_{\operatorname{Ch}}(R, A)/\simeq \ni [\mathfrak{f}]_{\simeq} \mapsto [\mathfrak{f}(1)]_{\operatorname{im}} \in H_0(A).$$
(6.21)

Since  $[\mathfrak{f}]_{\simeq} = \gamma \mathfrak{f}$  (see (4.15)), if  $f \in \operatorname{Hom}_{Ch}(A, B)$ , then  $\gamma f \in [A, B]$  and  $[R, \gamma f]$  is the set-theoretical map

$$[R,\gamma f]:[R,A]\ni [\mathfrak{f}]_{\simeq}\mapsto [f\circ\mathfrak{f}]_{\simeq}\in [R,B].$$

If we read this map through the correspondence (6.21), we get the map

$$H_0(f): H_0(A) \ni [\mathfrak{f}(1)]_{\mathrm{im}} \mapsto [f(\mathfrak{f}(1))]_{\mathrm{im}} \in H_0(B).$$

$$(6.22)$$

In the case M = Ch(R), if we apply (6.6) with M = R, take into account (6.8), (6.10), (6.12), (6.17) and (6.19), and use the identifications (6.21) and (6.22), we find the long exact sequence

$$\cdots \longrightarrow H_2(B) \xrightarrow{H_2(i)} H_2(\operatorname{Mc}(f)) \xrightarrow{H_2(p)} H_1(A) \xrightarrow{H_1(f)}$$
$$H_1(B) \xrightarrow{H_1(i)} H_1(\operatorname{Mc}(f)) \xrightarrow{H_1(p)} H_0(A) \xrightarrow{H_0(f)} H_0(B)$$

which is the left hand side of the homology sequence (6.4). In the case  $M = Ch_{\geq 0}(R)$ , the additional equations (6.9), (6.11), (6.16), (6.18) and (6.20) lead to the same homology sequence (since in degree zero the homologies of the subcomplexes coincide with those of the full complexes), which in this case is the complete sequence. In the unbounded case, we can also get the complete sequence, or, more precisely, we can extend the homology sequence obtained to the right up to any degree -n (n > 0). For this it suffices to replace in the construction above the chain map f by the chain map f[n] and to observe that

$$H_k(K_{f[n]}) = H_k(K_f[n]) = H_{k-n}(K_f)$$

**6.3. Monoidal model categories.** In this section we introduce a suitable based path space functor in a pointed monoidal model category. First we recall

DEFINITION 6.1. A closed symmetric monoidal category is a symmetric monoidal category  $(C, \otimes, \mathbb{I})$  such that for every  $B \in C$  the functor  $- \otimes B : C \to C$  has a right adjoint  $\operatorname{Hom}_{C}(B, -)$ , i.e., there exists a functor  $\operatorname{Hom}_{C}(B, -)$  together with a family of bijections

$$\operatorname{Hom}_{\mathsf{C}}(A \otimes B, C) \cong \operatorname{Hom}_{\mathsf{C}}(A, \operatorname{\underline{Hom}}_{\mathsf{C}}(B, C)) \tag{6.23}$$

indexed by  $A, C \in C$  that is natural in A and C.

A closed symmetric monoidal category is a closed category. In particular, there is an *internal Hom* functor

$$\underline{\operatorname{Hom}}_{\mathbf{C}}: \mathbb{C}^{\operatorname{op}} \times \mathbb{C} \to \mathbb{C}$$

such that if we fix the first argument we get the right adjoint of the definition. Moreover, there is a natural isomorphism

$$\underline{\mathrm{Hom}}_{\mathsf{C}}(\mathbb{I},-)\cong\mathrm{id}_{\mathsf{C}}$$

that allows us to identify these endofunctors.

We will use the following definition of a monoidal model category.

DEFINITION 6.2. A monoidal model category is a closed symmetric monoidal category  $(M, \otimes, \mathbb{I}, \underline{\text{Hom}}_{M})$  equipped with a model structure such that the following two compatibility conditions are fulfilled:

(i) the monoidal unit  $\mathbb{I}$  is a cofibrant object,

(ii) for every cofibration  $i: A \rightarrow B$  and every fibration  $p: K \twoheadrightarrow L$ , the universal map

$$\underline{\operatorname{Hom}}_{\mathbb{M}}(B,K) \dashrightarrow \underline{\operatorname{Hom}}_{\mathbb{M}}(B,L) \times_{\underline{\operatorname{Hom}}_{\mathbb{M}}(A,L)} \underline{\operatorname{Hom}}_{\mathbb{M}}(A,K)$$
(6.24)

is a fibration which is a weak equivalence if i or p is.

REMARK 6.3. It follows from [22, Lemma 4.2.2] that Condition (ii) is equivalent to the pushout-product axiom

PPA: If  $i: A \rightarrow B$  and  $j: K \rightarrow L$  are cofibrations, the universal morphism

$$A \otimes L \coprod_{A \otimes K} B \otimes K \dashrightarrow B \otimes L$$

is a cofibration which is a weak equivalence if i or j is.

Further, condition (i) and the PPA imply the unit axiom

UA: For every cofibrant replacement  $C\mathbb{I} \xrightarrow{q} \mathbb{I}$  of  $\mathbb{I}$  and every cofibrant object X the morphism

$$C\mathbb{I}\otimes X\xrightarrow{q\otimes \mathrm{id}_X} X$$

is a weak equivalence.

Indeed, PPA implies that  $-\otimes X$  preserves trivial cofibrations, so that because of Brown's lemma  $-\otimes X$  sends weak equivalences between cofibrant objects to weak equivalences. Since if  $\mathbb{I}$  is cofibrant,  $C\mathbb{I} \xrightarrow{q} \mathbb{I}$  is a weak equivalence between cofibrant objects, the conclusion follows.

Hence Definition 6.2 is a little stronger than the standard definition which requires that the axioms UA and PPA are fulfilled.

For example, if R = k is a commutative unital ring, the category

$$(\mathtt{Ch}(k), \otimes_k, k, \underline{\mathrm{Hom}}_{\mathtt{Ch}(k)})$$

of chain complexes in the category Mod(k) of modules over k with its projective model structure is a (pointed) monoidal model category in the sense of Definition 6.2. This follows from [22, Proposition 4.2.13] and the observation in the previous section that R = k is cofibrant. Let us also recall that the tensor product is defined by

$$(A \otimes_k B)_n = \bigoplus_{\mu + \nu = n} A_\mu \otimes_k B_\nu, \quad d_{\otimes}(a \otimes b) = d_A a \otimes b + (-1)^{\mu} a \otimes d_B b$$

and that the internal Hom is given by

$$\underline{\operatorname{Hom}}_{\operatorname{Ch}(k)}(A,B)_{n} = \prod_{\mu \in \mathbb{Z}} \operatorname{Hom}_{\operatorname{Mod}(k)}(A_{\mu}, B_{\mu+n}), \quad (df)_{\mu} = d_{B} \circ f_{\mu} + (-1)^{n+1} f_{\mu-1} \circ d_{A}.$$
(6.25)

Let now  $(M, \otimes, \mathbb{I}, \underline{Hom}_M)$  be any pointed monoidal model category and let

$$\mathbb{I} \to \operatorname{Cone}(\mathbb{I}) \xrightarrow{\sim} 0 \tag{6.26}$$

be a factorization of  $\mathbb{I} \to 0$  into a cofibration followed by a weak equivalence. It is easy to check that if  $\mathbb{M} = Ch(k)$  and thus  $\mathbb{I} = k$ , the mapping cone

$$\operatorname{Mc}(\operatorname{id}_k): \dots \longrightarrow 0 \longrightarrow \underbrace{k}_{(1)} \xrightarrow{\operatorname{id}_k} \underbrace{k}_{(0)} \longrightarrow 0 \longrightarrow \dots,$$
 (6.27)

where the integers in parentheses indicate the degree, satisfies the condition

$$k \rightarrow \operatorname{Mc}(\operatorname{id}_k) \xrightarrow{\sim} 0,$$

so that we can choose

$$\operatorname{Cone}(k) = \operatorname{Mc}(\operatorname{id}_k). \tag{6.28}$$

Indeed, the morphism  $k \to \operatorname{Mc}(\operatorname{id}_k)$  is the morphism  $S^0(k) \to D^1(k)$  from the 0-sphere at k to the 1-disk at k which is a generating cofibration and the morphism  $\operatorname{Mc}(\operatorname{id}_k) \to 0$ is a quasi-isomorphism because

$$H(\operatorname{Mc}(0:\operatorname{Mc}(\operatorname{id}_k)\to 0)) = H(\operatorname{Mc}(\operatorname{id}_k)[1]) = 0$$

since  $id_k$  is a quasi-isomorphism. This justifies the notation  $Come(\mathbb{I})$  and the name 'cone of  $\mathbb{I}$ '. It is now natural to define the cone functor  $Cone \in Fun(M, M)$  by

$$\operatorname{Cone} := - \otimes \operatorname{Cone}(\mathbb{I})$$

and the dual based path space functor  $\mathsf{Path}_0 \in \mathsf{Fun}(M, M)$  by

$$\mathsf{Path}_0 := \underline{\mathrm{Hom}}_{\mathsf{M}}(\mathrm{Cone}(\mathbb{I}), -).$$

PROPOSITION 6.4. In a pointed monoidal model category  $(M, \otimes, \mathbb{I}, \underline{Hom}_M)$  with unit cone Cone( $\mathbb{I}$ ) defined by (6.26), the functor

$$\mathsf{Path}_0 := \underline{\mathrm{Hom}}_{\mathsf{M}}(\mathrm{Cone}(\mathbb{I}), -) \tag{6.29}$$

is a based path space functor in the sense of Definition 4.1.

*Proof.* For all  $A, B \in M$ , we have

$$\operatorname{Hom}_{\mathbb{M}}(A, \operatorname{\underline{Hom}}_{\mathbb{M}}(B, 0)) \cong \operatorname{Hom}_{\mathbb{M}}(A \otimes B, 0),$$

so that there is a unique morphism from every  $A \in M$  to  $\underline{\operatorname{Hom}}_{M}(B,0) \in M$ , which means that for every  $B \in M$ , we have

$$\underline{\operatorname{Hom}}_{\mathsf{M}}(B,0) \cong 0.$$

The same result holds for  $\underline{\operatorname{Hom}}_{\mathbb{M}}(0, B)$ . Indeed, since left adjoint functors preserve colimits, the functor  $-\otimes A$  preserves the initial object, so that  $A \otimes 0 \cong 0 \otimes A \cong 0$ . Hence, for every  $A \in \mathbb{M}$ , we get

$$\operatorname{Hom}_{\mathbb{M}}(A, \operatorname{Hom}_{\mathbb{M}}(0, B)) \cong \operatorname{Hom}_{\mathbb{M}}(0, B),$$

which implies that

 $\underline{\operatorname{Hom}}_{\mathsf{M}}(0,B) \cong 0.$ 

If  $i : \mathbb{I} \to \text{Cone}(\mathbb{I})$ , then for every  $A \in M$  we have a morphism

$$\underline{\operatorname{Hom}}_{\mathsf{M}}(i,A):\underline{\operatorname{Hom}}_{\mathsf{M}}(\operatorname{Cone}(\mathbb{I}),A)\to\underline{\operatorname{Hom}}_{\mathsf{M}}(\mathbb{I},A)$$

and these morphisms are the components of a natural transformation

$$\pi:\mathsf{Path}_0\Rightarrow\mathrm{id}_{\mathtt{M}}$$
 .

Indeed, if  $f : A \to B$  is a morphism, then  $f \circ \pi_A = \pi_B \circ \mathsf{Path}_0 f$ , since the left hand side  $\underline{\mathrm{Hom}}_{\mathsf{M}}(\mathrm{id}_{\mathbb{I}}, f) \circ \underline{\mathrm{Hom}}_{\mathsf{M}}(i, \mathrm{id}_A)$  and the right hand side  $\underline{\mathrm{Hom}}_{\mathsf{M}}(i, \mathrm{id}_B) \circ \underline{\mathrm{Hom}}_{\mathsf{M}}(\mathrm{id}_{\mathrm{Cone}(\mathbb{I})}, f)$  are both equal to  $\underline{\mathrm{Hom}}_{\mathsf{M}}(i, f)$ , as  $\underline{\mathrm{Hom}}_{\mathsf{M}}$  is a functor on the product category  $\mathrm{M}^{\mathrm{op}} \times \mathrm{M}$  with composition

$$(g,g') \circ_{\times} (f,f') = (g \circ_{\mathsf{M}^{\mathrm{op}}} f,g' \circ_{\mathsf{M}} f') = (f \circ_{\mathsf{M}} g,g' \circ_{\mathsf{M}} f'),$$

for all M<sup>op</sup>-morphisms  $f: A \to B$  and  $g: B \to C$  and all M-morphisms  $f': A' \to B'$  and  $g': B' \to C'$ .

Let now  $A \in M$  be a fibrant object. If we apply axiom (ii) of Definition 6.2 to the cofibration  $i : \mathbb{I} \to \text{Cone}(\mathbb{I})$  and the fibration  $p : A \to 0$ , we find that the universal map

 $\mathsf{Path}_0 A = \underline{\mathrm{Hom}}_{\mathsf{M}}(\mathrm{Cone}(\mathbb{I}), A) \dashrightarrow \underline{\mathrm{Hom}}_{\mathsf{M}}(\mathrm{Cone}(\mathbb{I}), 0) \times_{\underline{\mathrm{Hom}}_{\mathsf{M}}(\mathbb{I}, 0)} \underline{\mathrm{Hom}}_{\mathsf{M}}(\mathbb{I}, A) = A$ 

is a fibration. Further, since the morphism  $\operatorname{Cone}(\mathbb{I}) \to 0$  is a weak equivalence, it follows from the 2-out-of-3 axiom that the morphism  $0 \to \operatorname{Cone}(\mathbb{I})$  is also a weak equivalence. As  $\mathbb{I}$  is cofibrant by definition, this morphism  $\iota: 0 \to \mathbb{I} \to \operatorname{Cone}(\mathbb{I})$  is a trivial cofibration. If we apply now axiom (ii) to  $\iota$  and p, we see that the universal map

 $\mathsf{Path}_0 A = \underline{\mathrm{Hom}}_{\mathsf{M}}(\mathrm{Cone}(\mathbb{I}), A) \dashrightarrow \underline{\mathrm{Hom}}_{\mathsf{M}}(\mathrm{Cone}(\mathbb{I}), 0) \times_{\mathrm{Hom}_{\mathsf{M}}(0, 0)} \underline{\mathrm{Hom}}_{\mathsf{M}}(0, A) = 0$ 

is a trivial fibration, so that  $\mathsf{Path}_0A$  is acyclic.

**6.4.** Chain complexes as monoidal model category. In Section 6.2 we have applied the machinery of this paper to the pointed model category Ch(R) of chain complexes in the category R-Mod of left modules over a unital ring R. It seemed natural to define the based path space Path<sub>0</sub> A of a complex A as the mapping cone  $Mc(id_A)[-1]$  of the identity of A shifted by -1. In the case where R is a *commutative* unital ring k, we can also consider Ch(R) = Ch(k) as a pointed monoidal model category, apply Proposition 6.4 and define the based path space functor as the dual Path<sub>0</sub> of the cone Cone(k) of k. In this section we compute the based path space Path<sub>0</sub>A, the corresponding loop space, homotopy kernel, etc. and compare the results to those of Section 6.2.

From (6.29), (6.28), (6.27) and (6.25), it follows that

$$(\mathsf{Path}_0 A)_n = \underline{\mathrm{Hom}}_{\mathsf{Ch}(k)}(\mathrm{Cone}(k), A)_n = \mathrm{Hom}_{\mathtt{Mod}(k)}(\underbrace{k}_{(0)}, A_n) \oplus \mathrm{Hom}_{\mathtt{Mod}(k)}(\underbrace{k}_{(1)}, A_{n+1}),$$

so that we have the isomorphism of k-modules

 $\mathcal{I}_n : (\mathsf{Path}_0 A)_n \ni (f_\mu)_\mu = (f_0, f_1) \mapsto a_n + a_{n+1} := f_0(1) + f_1(1) \in A_n \oplus A_{n+1}.$  (6.30) If we read the differential (6.25) through the isomorphisms  $\mathcal{I}_n$ , we get the differential

$$\mathsf{d}_A = \mathcal{I}_{n-1} \circ d \circ \mathcal{I}_n^{-1}$$

given by

$$\begin{aligned} \mathsf{d}_A \begin{pmatrix} a_n \\ a_{n+1} \end{pmatrix} &= \mathcal{I}_{n-1}(d(f_0, f_1)) = \mathcal{I}_{n-1}(d_A \circ f_0 + d_A \circ f_1 + (-1)^{n+1} f_0) \\ &= d_A a_n + d_A a_{n+1} + (-1)^{n+1} a_n = \begin{pmatrix} d_A & 0 \\ (-1)^{n+1} & d_A \end{pmatrix} \begin{pmatrix} a_n \\ a_{n+1} \end{pmatrix}, \end{aligned}$$

since  $d_{\text{Cone}(k)}$  vanishes except if  $\mu = 1$  where it is the identity. Finally,

$$(\mathsf{Path}_0 A)_n = A_n \oplus A_{n+1} \quad \text{and} \quad \mathsf{d}_{A,n} = \begin{pmatrix} d_A & 0\\ (-1)^{n+1} \operatorname{id}_A & d_A \end{pmatrix}.$$
(6.31)

The A-component of the natural transformation  $\pi$ :  $\mathsf{Path}_0 \Rightarrow \mathsf{id}_{\mathsf{Ch}(k)}$  is given by  $\pi_A = \operatorname{\underline{Hom}}_{\mathsf{Ch}(k)}(i, A)$  where the cofibration  $i: k \to \operatorname{Cone}(k)$  vanishes except in degree zero where it is the identity. If we read  $(\pi_A)_n$  through the isomorphism  $\mathcal{I}_n$  we get the canonical projection  $\pi_1: A_n \oplus A_{n+1} \to A_n$ . The loop space of A is its kernel

$$(OA)_n = A_{n+1}$$
 and  $d_{OA,n} = d_{A,n+1}$ . (6.32)

A direct verification shows that given a morphism  $f : A \to B$ , the homotopy kernel  $\mathsf{K}_f = \mathsf{Path}_0 B \times_B A$  is

$$(\mathsf{K}_f)_n = A_n \oplus B_{n+1} \quad \text{and} \quad \mathsf{d}_{f,n} = \begin{pmatrix} d_A & 0\\ (-1)^{n+1}f & d_B \end{pmatrix}.$$
(6.33)

The mapping cone Mc(f) of a chain map  $f : A \to B$  is defined in (6.2). An alternative definition is

$$\operatorname{Mc}(f)_n := A[1]_n \oplus B_n \quad \text{and} \quad \mathsf{d}_{\operatorname{Mc}(f),n} := \begin{pmatrix} d_A & 0\\ (-1)^n f & d_B \end{pmatrix}.$$
(6.34)

Formulas (6.31)–(6.33) show that the complexes obtained here and in Section 6.2 are the same graded modules. As for their differentials, we found in 6.2 that

$$\begin{aligned} \mathbf{d}_{A,n} &:= d_{\operatorname{Path}_0 A,n} = -d_{\operatorname{Mc}(\operatorname{id}_A),n+1} \\ d_{\Omega A,n} &= -d_{A,n+1}, \quad \text{and} \\ \mathbf{d}_{f,n} &:= d_{K_f,n} = -d_{\operatorname{Mc}(f),n+1}. \end{aligned}$$

Here we find the same differentials, but without the sign change on the right hand side and with the standard differential  $d_{Mc(f)}$  replaced by the previous alternative differential  $\mathsf{d}_{Mc(f)}$ :

$$\mathsf{d}_{A,n} := d_{\mathsf{Path}_0A,n} = \mathsf{d}_{\mathrm{Mc}(\mathrm{id}_A),n+1}, \quad \mathsf{d}_{\mathsf{O}A,n} = d_{A,n+1} \quad \text{and} \quad \mathsf{d}_{f,n} := d_{\mathsf{K}_f,n} = \mathsf{d}_{\mathrm{Mc}(f),n+1}.$$

These slight differences are of course completely irrelevant.

#### 7. Follow-up questions

In a triangulated category, every morphism  $f: A \to B$  has a cone  $B \to C(f) \to A[1]$  such that  $A \to B \to C(f) \to A[1]$  is a distinguished triangle. However, the cone C is not a functor. It has been mentioned in the literature (see [13]) that this drawback shows that the axioms of a triangulated category are suboptimal. More precisely, if  $C(f)[-1] \to A \to B$  and  $C(f')[-1] \to A' \to B'$  are distinguished triangles together with a commutative square S := (A, B, A', B'), there is no unique induced map  $C(S) : C(f)[-1] \to C(f')[-1]$  that makes C a functor. We expect that Theorem 3.5 and Proposition 3.14 can be used to suggest a definition of triangulated categories with a functorial cone.

In [5, 6] and [29], Di Brino and two of the authors of the present work have taken up ideas from [1, 4, 27, 28, 34, 35, 36] and have introduced homotopical algebraic geometry over the ring of differential operators as a suitable framework for investigating the solution space of partial differential equations modulo symmetries. The implementation of the associated research program requires that a certain quintuplet be a homotopical algebraic geometric context (HAGC) in the sense of [35]. We are convinced that the theory of homotopy fiber sequences, which we have detailed in this paper, will enable us to prove the HAGC theorem and thus to take an important step towards fully working through the above program.

#### References

- A. Beilinson and V. Drinfeld, *Chiral Algebras*, Amer. Math. Soc. Colloq. Publ. 51, Amer. Math. Soc., Providence, RI, 2004.
- [2] A. Bruce, E. Ibarguëngoytia and N. Poncin, The Schwarz-Voronov embedding of Z<sub>2</sub><sup>n</sup>-manifolds, SIGMA 16 (2020), art. 002, 47 pp.
- [3] A. Bruce, E. Ibarguëngoytia and N. Poncin, Linear Z<sup>n</sup><sub>2</sub>-manifolds and linear actions, SIGMA 17 (2021), art. 060, 58 pp.
- [4] K. Costello and O. Gwilliam, Factorization Algebras in Quantum Field Theory, Vol. 1, New Math. Monogr. 31, Cambridge Univ. Press, Cambridge, 2016.
- [5] D. Di Brino, D. Pištalo and N. Poncin, Koszul-Tate resolutions as cofibrant replacements of algebras over differential operators, J. Homotopy Related Structures 13 (2018), 793–846.
- [6] G. Di Brino, D. Pištalo and N. Poncin, Homotopical algebraic context over differential operators, J. Homotopy Related Structures 14 (2019), 293–347.
- [7] T. Covolo, V. Ovsienko and N. Poncin, Higher trace and Berezinian of matrices over a Clifford algebra, J. Geom. Phys. 62 (2012), 2294–2319.
- [8] T. Covolo, J. Grabowski and N. Poncin, *The category of Z<sup>n</sup><sub>2</sub>-supermanifolds*, J. Math. Phys. 57 (2016), 16 pp.
- T. Covolo, S. Kwok and N. Poncin, Local forms of morphisms of colored supermanifolds, J. Geom. Phys. 168 (2021), art. 104302, 21 pp.
- [10] A. Dold und D. Puppe, Homologie nicht-additiver Funktoren, Ann. Inst. Fourier (Grenoble) 11 (1961), 201–312.
- [11] W. G. Dwyer, P. Hirschhorn and D. M. Kan, Model categories and more general abstract homotopy theory, 1997, 101 pp., researchgate: 228716961.
- [12] W. G. Dwyer and J. Spaliński, *Homotopy theories and model categories*, in: Handbook of Algebraic Topology, North-Holland, Amsterdam, 1995, 73–126.
- [13] S. I. Gelfand and Yu. I. Manin, Methods of Homological Algebra, 2nd ed., Springer, Berlin, 2003.
- [14] A. Govzmann, D. Pištalo and N. Poncin, Comparison theorems for Kan, faintly universal and strongly universal derived functors, to appear.
- [15] A. Govzmann, D. Pištalo and N. Poncin, Indeterminacies and models of homotopy limits, to appear.
- [16] M. Groth, Derivators, pointed derivators and stable derivators, Algebr. Geom. Topol. 13 (2013), 313–374.
- [17] A. Grothendieck, A la poursuite des champs, manuscript, 1983.
- [18] A. Grothendieck, Les dérivateurs, manuscript, 1991.
- [19] A. Heller, Homotopy theories, Mem. Amer. Math. Soc. 71 (1988), no. 383, vi+78 pp.
- [20] A. Heller, Stable homotopy theories and stabilization, J. Pure Appl. Algebra 115 (1997), 113–130.
- [21] P. S. Hirschhorn, Model Categories and Their Localizations, Math. Surveys Monogr. 99, Amer. Math. Soc., Providence, RI, 2003.
- [22] M. Hovey, Model Categories, Math. Surveys Monogr. 63, Amer. Math. Soc., Providence, RI, 1999.
- [23] M. Kashiwara and P. Schapira, *Sheaves on Manifolds*, Grundlehren Math. Wiss. 292, Springer, Berlin, 1990.
- [24] J. Kelley and E. Pritcher, Exact homomorphism sequences in homology theory, Ann. Math. (2) 48 (1947), 682–709.
- [25] J. Lurie, *Higher Topos Theory*, Ann. of Math. Stud. 170, Princeton Univ. Press, Princeton, NJ, 2009.

- [26] G. Maltsiniotis, La K-théorie d'un dérivateur triangulé, in: Categories in Algebra, Geometry and Mathematical Physics (Sydney and Canberra, 2005), Contemp. Math. 431, Amer. Math. Soc., Providence, RI, 2007, 341–368.
- [27] F. Paugam, Histories and observables in covariant field theory, J. Geom. Phys. 61 (2011), 1675–1702.
- [28] F. Paugam, Towards the Mathematics of Quantum Field Theory, Ergeb. Math. Grenzgeb. (3) 59, Springer, Cham, 2014.
- [29] D. Pištalo and N. Poncin, Koszul-Tate resolutions and Sullivan models, Dissertationes Math. 531 (2018), 71 pp.
- [30] N. Poncin, Towards integration on colored supermanifolds, in: Banach Center Publ. 110, Inst. Math., Polish Acad. Sci., Warszawa, 2016, 201–217.
- [31] D. Puppe, Homotopiemengen und ihre induzierten Abbildungen, Math. Z. 69 (1958), 299– 344.
- [32] D. Quillen, Homotopical Algebra, Lecture Notes in Math. 43, Springer, Berlin, 1967.
- [33] S. Schwede, The p-order of topological triangulated categories, J. Topol. 6 (2013), 857–867.
- [34] B. Toën and G. Vezzosi, Homotopical algebraic geometry I, Topos theory, Adv. Math. 193 (2005), 257–372.
- [35] B. Toën and G. Vezzosi, Homotopical algebraic geometry II, Geometric stacks and applications, Mem. Amer. Math. Soc. 193 (2008), no. 902, x+224 pp.
- [36] A. M. Vinogradov, Cohomological Analysis of Partial Differential Equations and Secondary Calculus, Transl. Math. Monogr. 204, Amer. Math. Soc., Providence, RI, 2001.
- [37] J.-L. Verdier, *Catégories dérivées*, in: Cohomologie étale, Lecture Notes in Math. 569, Springer, Berlin, 1977, 262–311.
- [38] C. A. Weibel, An Introduction to Homological Algebra, Cambridge Stud. Adv. Math. 38, 1994.